

Taseko Mines Limited 12th Floor, 1040 West Georgia St. Vancouver, BC V6E 4H1 tasekomines.com

TASEKO REPORTS AN 85% INCREASE IN ADJUSTED EBITDA* FOR 2021

This release should be read with the Company's Financial Statements and Management Discussion & Analysis ("MD&A"), available at <u>www.tasekomines.com</u> and filed on <u>www.sedar.com</u>. Except where otherwise noted, all currency amounts are stated in Canadian dollars. Taseko's 75% owned Gibraltar Mine is located north of the City of Williams Lake in south-central British Columbia. Production and sales volumes stated in this release are on a 100% basis unless otherwise indicated.

February 22, 2022, Vancouver, BC – Taseko Mines Limited (TSX: TKO; NYSE American: TGB; LSE: TKO) ("Taseko" or the "Company") reports Adjusted EBITDA* of \$201 million for the full-year 2021, an 85% increase over 2020. Revenues for the year were \$433 million and Adjusted net income* for the year was \$45 million, or \$0.16 per share. In the fourth quarter 2021, Taseko generated Adjusted EBITDA* of \$53 million, \$103 million of Revenue and Adjusted net income* of \$13 million, or \$0.05 per share.

Stuart McDonald, President and CEO of Taseko, stated, "Realized copper sales of 105 million pounds for the year, buoyed by a strong average copper price of over US\$4.20 per pound, generated the best financial results in our Company's history. This was accomplished despite the lagging copper sales in the fourth quarter as a result of major disruption to transportation infrastructure in southern BC from severe rainstorms in November, which limited our ability to ship copper concentrate and realize sales."

"At Florence Copper, based on our ongoing dialogue with the US Environmental Protection Agency, we continue to expect the draft Underground Injection Control ("UIC") permit to be publicly issued very soon, and then a 45-day public comment period will commence. The UIC is the final permit needed to construct and operate the commercial production facility, which will be a major new source of low-carbon copper supply for the US market. The detailed engineering program for the commercial facility is complete and we're well advanced with procurement of key, long-lead items, which will ensure a rapid and smooth transition into construction."

Mr. McDonald added, "Operationally, Gibraltar production in the fourth quarter was impacted by lower grades and recoveries due to severe winter weather as well as oxidization and pyrite content in the upper benches of the Gibraltar pit. Mill operations are being optimized for the new mineralization, and ore quality will improve as mining progresses deeper into the Gibraltar pit this year. For 2022, we expect copper production of 115 million pounds (+/- 5%), with production weighted to the back half of the year and the first quarter being the lowest production quarter, similar to 2021. Next year, mining operations will transition to higher grade zones, and copper production is planned to trend back toward the life of mine average of 130 million pounds. A new Gibraltar reserve update is expected to be completed in the second quarter."

Mr. McDonald concluded, "Our balance sheet remains healthy with nearly \$300 million of available liquidity, including cash on hand and the new US\$50 million credit facility that was closed in October. In addition, we recently took advantage of a strengthened copper price to extend our price protection strategy - we now have more than 90% of our 2022 production secured at a minimum price of US\$4.00 per pound. With our strong financial position and robust copper markets, its ideal timing to be advancing our Florence Copper project to commercial production."



2021 Annual Review

- Earnings from mining operations before depletion and amortization* was \$230.4 million, Adjusted EBITDA* was \$200.7 million, and cash flows from operations was \$174.8 million;
- Adjusted net income* was \$44.7 million (\$0.16 per share) and GAAP Net income was \$36.5 million (\$0.13 per share) for the year;
- Total operating costs (C1)* for the year were US\$1.90 per pound produced;
- The Gibraltar mine produced 112.3 million pounds of copper and 2.0 million pounds of molybdenum in 2021. Copper recoveries were 82.4% and copper head grades were 0.23%;
- Gibraltar sold 104.9 million pounds of copper for the year (100% basis) which contributed to record revenue for Taseko of \$433.3 million and an increase of 26% over 2020. Average realized copper prices were US\$4.31 per pound for year, compared to the LME average price of US\$4.23 per pound;
- The Company has approximately \$300 million of available liquidity at December 31, 2021, including a cash balance of \$237 million and a new US\$50 million revolving credit facility with National Bank of Canada which closed in early October;
- Development costs incurred for Florence Copper were \$57.9 million in the year and included, detailed engineering and design of the commercial facility, initial deposits for major processing equipment for the SX/EW plant and ongoing site operating costs. These activities will allow the Florence project team to efficiently advance into construction upon receipt of the Underground Injection Control ("UIC") permit; and
- In December 2021, the Company completed its review of the draft UIC permit and no significant issues were identified. The EPA continues to advance their review process and the public comment period on the draft UIC permit is expected to commence shortly after the draft UIC permit is publicly issued.

Fourth Quarter Review

- Fourth quarter earnings from mining operations before depletion and amortization* was \$61.9 million, Adjusted EBITDA* was \$53.0 million, Adjusted net income* was \$13.3 million (\$0.05 per share) and GAAP Net income was \$11.8 million (\$0.04 per share);
- Total operating costs (C1)* for the quarter were US\$1.94 per pound produced;
- The Gibraltar mine produced 28.8 million pounds of copper and 450 thousand pounds of molybdenum in the fourth quarter. Copper recoveries were 80.4% and copper head grades were 0.24%;



- Gibraltar sold 23.8 million pounds of copper in the quarter (100% basis). Due to extreme flooding in southwest British Columbia in November which washed out highways and rail infrastructure, transportation options were impacted which resulted in a build-up of copper concentrate inventory to 9.9 million pounds at year end. Concentrate inventory should return to more normal levels by the end of the first quarter of 2022;
- Average realized copper prices were US\$4.37 per pound in the quarter, which contributed \$103.0 million of revenue for Taseko;
- Cashflow from operations was \$37.2 million which was impacted by \$20.5 million in non-cash working capital attributed to the higher year-end inventory. Capital expenditures of \$35.2 million included Florence spend of \$14.8 million in the quarter;
- The Company has recently extended its copper price protection and now has more than 90% of its attributable production secured for 2022 year at a minimum copper price of US\$4.00 per pound. Fourth quarter Adjusted net income and Adjusted EBITDA were impacted by a \$6.4 million realized derivative loss (\$0.02 per share) related to copper put options that expired in the quarter; and
- In November 2021, Gibraltar's unionized workforce ratified a new, long-term collective bargaining agreement which will be in place until May 31, 2024.

HIGHLIGHTS

Operating Data (Gibraltar - 100% basis)		Three months ended December 31,			Year ended December 31,		
	2021	2020	Change	2021	2020	Change	
Tons mined (millions)	23.3	26.4	(3.1)	105.4	98.7	6.7	
Tons milled (millions)	7.4	7.5	(0.1)	29.2	30.1	(0.9)	
Production (million pounds Cu)	28.8	25.0	3.8	112.3	123.0	(10.7)	
Sales (million pounds Cu)	23.8	25.0	(1.2)	104.9	124.0	(19.1)	
	Three	Three months ended			Year ended		
Financial Data	D	ecember 31	,	D	December 31	,	
(Cdn\$ in thousands, except for per share amounts)	2021	2020	Change	2021	2020	Change	
Revenues	102,972	87,398	15,574	433,278	343,267	90,011	
Earnings from mining operations before depletion							
and amortization [*]	61,916	27,062	34,854	230,392	119,026	111,366	
Cash flows provided by operations	37,231	20,424	16,807	174,769	106,195	68,574	
Adjusted EBITDA [*]	52,988	20,478	32,510	200,733	108,229	92,504	
Adjusted net income (loss)*	13,312	(7,473)	20,785	44,745	(26,539)	71,284	
Per share - basic ("Adjusted EPS")*	0.05	(0.03)	0.08	0.16	(0.11)	0.27	
Net income (loss) (GAAP)	11,762	5,694	6,068	36,472	(23,524)	59,996	
Per share - basic ("EPS")	0.04	0.02	0.02	0.13	(0.09)	0.22	

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Gibraltar mine (75% Owned)

Operating data (100% basis)	Q4 2021	Q3 2021	Q2 2021	Q1 2021	Q4 2020	YE 2021	YE 2020
Tons mined (millions)	23.3	25.2	24.9	32.0	26.4	105.4	98.7
Tons milled (millions)	7.4	7.4	7.2	7.2	7.5	29.2	30.1
Strip ratio	2.2	1.3	2.3	6.0	1.9	2.5	2.0
Site operating cost per ton milled (Cdn\$)*	\$9.94	\$8.99	\$9.16	\$8.73	\$11.67	\$9.21	\$9.59
Copper concentrate							
Head grade (%)	0.24	0.28	0.22	0.19	0.20	0.23	0.24
Copper recovery (%)	80.4	84.2	83.3	81.5	83.3	82.4	84.3
Production (million pounds Cu)	28.8	34.5	26.8	22.2	25.0	112.3	123.0
Sales (million pounds Cu)	23.8	32.4	26.7	22.0	25.0	104.9	124.0
Inventory (million pounds Cu)	9.9	4.9	3.5	3.6	3.4	9.9	3.4
Molybdenum concentrate							
Production (thousand pounds Mo)	450	571	402	530	549	1,954	2,269
Sales (thousand pounds Mo)	491	502	455	552	487	2,000	2,239
Per unit data (US\$ per pound produced)*							
Site operating costs [*]	\$2.02	\$1.53	\$2.02	\$2.23	\$2.67	\$1.91	\$1.75
By-product credits*	(0.30)	(0.25)	(0.25)	(0.27)	(0.14)	(0.27)	(0.13)
Site operating costs, net of by-product credits*	\$1.72	\$1.28	\$1.77	\$1.96	\$2.53	\$1.64	\$1.62
Off-property costs	0.22	0.29	0.25	0.27	0.29	0.26	0.30
Total operating costs (C1)*	\$1.94	\$1.57	\$2.02	\$2.23	\$2.82	\$1.90	\$1.92

Full Year Results

Gibraltar produced 112.3 million pounds of copper in 2021 compared to 123.0 million in 2020. Copper grade for the year averaged 0.23% copper, compared to 0.24% in 2020. Copper recoveries for 2021 was 82.4%, compared to 84.3% in 2020.

A total of 105.4 million tons were mined in the year in line with the mine plan and a 7% increase over the prior year period. The strip ratio increased primarily as a result of the waste mining transitioning into the Pollyanna pit in the first quarter of 2021 and lower mining rates in 2020 in response to the onset of COVID-19. Pollyanna ore was the primary mill feed in 2021, and waste stripping activities began in the Gibraltar pit in 2021 with first ore being mined in the fourth quarter.

Total site spending (including capitalized stripping of \$59.9 million on a 75% basis) was 9% higher than the prior year due to higher mining rates in 2021. Sustaining capital expenditures at Gibraltar (75% basis) were \$27.9 million for the year, compared to \$20.3 million for the prior year due to greater scheduled component replacements in 2021 for the mining fleet.



REVIEW OF OPERATIONS - CONTINUED

Molybdenum production was 2.0 million pounds in the year compared to 2.3 million pounds in the prior year. Molybdenum prices also strengthened in 2021 with an average molybdenum price of US\$15.94 per pound, an increase of 84% compared to the 2020 average price of US\$8.68 per pound. By-product credits per pound of copper produced was US\$0.27 in the year compared to US\$0.13 in the prior year.

Off-property costs per pound produced* were US\$0.26 for the year, which is US\$0.04 lower than the prior year, as the Company benefited by a 4% reduction in the benchmark treatment and refining charges ("TCRC") in 2021 and realized lower TCRCs for spot tenders that were delivered at some of the lowest levels ever seen by the Gibraltar mine due to tight copper market conditions.

Total operating costs per pound produced $(C1)^*$ were US\$1.90 for the year, a slight decrease compared to the prior year. The decrease in the C1* costs was primarily due to the higher by-product credits and lower off-property costs, partially offset by the increase in site costs and the impact of decreased copper production.

Fourth Quarter Results

Copper production in the fourth quarter was 28.8 million pounds and was impacted by lower grades and recoveries from ore mined in the upper benches of the Gibraltar pit. Increased oxidization and pyrite content in this ore has resulted in lower recoveries which management believes is a short-term issue that will be resolved. Ore quality is expected to improve as mining progresses deeper into the Gibraltar pit. In December, heavy snowfall and temperatures as low as minus 35 degrees Celsius also impacted mine equipment and mill availabilities, resulting in decreased mill throughput and a need to draw ore from lower grade stockpiles.

The Company realized 23.8 million pounds of copper sales in the fourth quarter which was lower than copper production of 28.8 million pounds. Major disruption to the highway and rail infrastructure in southwest British Columbia from severe rainstorms and flooding in November prevented significant production from being delivered to the port for shipping. Copper concentrate inventories ended the year at 9.9 million pounds.

A total of 23.3 million tons were mined in the fourth quarter. The strip ratio increased over the prior quarter due to mining activities transitioning into the higher strip ratio Gibraltar pit. The mill feed in the fourth quarter came primarily from Pollyanna but also included ore from the Gibraltar pit.

Total site spending (including capitalized stripping of \$12.7 million on a 75% basis) was 7% higher than the prior quarter and included retroactive payments from the newly ratified collective bargaining agreement. Sustaining capital expenditures at Gibraltar of \$6.5 million on a 75% basis included component replacements for the mining fleet, including scheduled work on the shovels.

Molybdenum production was 450 thousand pounds in the fourth quarter and at an average molybdenum price of US\$18.89 per pound, generated a notable by-product credit per pound of copper produced of US\$0.30 in the fourth quarter.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS - CONTINUED

Off-property costs per pound produced* were US\$0.22 for the fourth quarter which benefitted from lower copper pounds sold. The Company also realized lower TCRC in the fourth quarter as two spot tenders were delivered at much lower TCRC rates than the annual benchmark rate, which reflects the tight physical market for copper concentrate from overseas smelters.

Total operating costs per pound produced (C1)* were US\$1.94 for the quarter and increased due to the decreased copper production and higher site costs in the fourth quarter compared to the third quarter.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Nothing is more important to Taseko than the safety, health and well-being of our workers and their families. Taseko places a high priority on the continuous improvement of performance in the areas of employee health and safety at the workplace and protection of the environment.

In April 2021, Taseko published its second Environmental, Social, and Governance ("ESG") report, which includes an examination of the Company's sustainability performance for 2020. The report is available on the Company's website at <u>www.tasekomines.com/esg</u>.

In this report, Taseko has reported Scope 1 and 2 greenhouse gas emissions for the Gibraltar mine which show that the mine ranks in the first quartile of all copper mines globally. When commercial operations at Florence Copper commences, the Company's combined greenhouse gas emissions intensity will drop even lower, to an estimated 1.53 tonnes of CO2 per tonne of copper equivalent, based on an independent analysis by Skarn Associates.

Gibraltar's 2021 ESG report will be published in the second quarter of 2022.

GIBRALTAR OUTLOOK

Gibraltar is expected to produce 115 million pounds (+/-5%) of copper in 2022 on a 100% basis, with production weighted to the back half of the year and the first quarter being the lowest production quarter, similar to 2021. The expected sales of excess copper concentrate inventory carried over from 2021 will bolster earnings in the first quarter of 2022.

Strong metal prices and US dollar combined with our copper hedge protection continues to provide tailwinds for a strong financial performance and operating margins at the Gibraltar mine over the coming year. Copper prices in 2021 averaged US\$4.23 per pound and are currently around US\$4.50 and molybdenum prices are currently US\$18.78 per pound, 18% higher than the average price in 2021.

The copper price outlook for 2022 remains quite favorable with limited exchange inventories and ongoing supply constraints failing to keep up to demand. Many governments are focusing on increased infrastructure investment to stimulate economic recovery after the pandemic, including green initiatives, which will require new primary supplies of copper. Although some analysts predict a balanced copper market by 2023 based on known projects currently under development, most industry analysts are projecting ongoing supply constraints and deficits, which should support higher copper prices in the years to come.

GIBRALTAR OUTLOOK - CONTINUED

The Company has a long track record of purchasing copper price options to manage copper price volatility. This strategy provides security over the Company's cash flow as it prepares for construction of Florence Copper while providing significant upside should copper prices continue at these levels or increase further. In particular, the Company has secured more than 90% of attributable production with copper collars which protect a minimum copper price of US\$4.00 per pound for 2022.

FLORENCE COPPER

The commercial production facility at Florence Copper will be one of the greenest sources of copper for US domestic consumption, with carbon emissions, water and energy consumption all dramatically lower than a conventional mine. It is a low-cost copper project with an annual production capacity of 85 million pounds of copper over a 21-year mine life. With the expected C1* operating cost of US\$1.10 per pound, Florence Copper will be in the lowest quartile of the global copper cost curve and will have one of the smallest environmental footprints of any copper mine in the world.

The Company has successfully operated a Production Test Facility ("PTF") since 2018 at Florence to demonstrate that the in-situ copper recovery ("ISCR") process can produce high quality cathode while operating within permit conditions.

The next phase of Florence Copper will be the construction and operation of the commercial ISCR facility with an estimated capital cost of US\$230 million (including reclamation bonding and working capital) based on the Company's published 2017 NI 43-101 technical report. At a conservative copper price of US\$3.00 per pound, Florence Copper is expected to generate an after-tax internal rate of return of 37%, an after-tax net present value of US\$680 million at a 7.5% discount rate, and an after-tax payback period of 2.5 years.

In December 2020, the Company received the Aquifer Protection Permit ("APP") from the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality ("ADEQ"). During the APP process, Florence Copper received strong support from local community members, business owners and elected officials. The other required permit is the UIC permit from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), which is the final permitting step required prior to construction of the commercial ISCR facility. On November 22, 2021, the EPA provided the Company with an initial draft of the UIC permit. Taseko's project technical team completed its review of the draft UIC permit in early December 2021 and no significant issues were identified. Based on ongoing dialogue with the EPA, the Company continues to expect the draft UIC permit to be publicly issued very soon, and then a 45-day public comment period will commence.

Detailed engineering and design for the commercial production facility is complete and procurement activities are well advanced with the Company making initial deposits and awarding the key contract for the major processing equipment associated with the SX/EW plant in 2021. The Company incurred \$58 million of costs for Florence in 2021 including for the commercial facility activities and also had outstanding purchase commitments of \$38 million as at December 31, 2021 to be incurred in 2022. Deploying this strategic capital and awarding key contracts will assist with protecting the project execution plan, mitigating inflation risk and the potential impact of supply chain disruptions and ensure a smooth transition into construction once the final UIC permit is received.

At current copper prices, the Company expects to be able to fund construction of the commercial facility from its existing sources of liquidity and cashflows from Gibraltar.

LONG-TERM GROWTH STRATEGY

Taseko's strategy has been to grow the Company by acquiring and developing a pipeline of complementary projects focused on copper in stable mining jurisdictions. We continue to believe this will generate long-term returns for shareholders. Our other development projects are located in British Columbia.

Yellowhead Copper Project

Yellowhead Mining Inc. ("Yellowhead") has an 817 million tonnes reserve and a 25-year mine life with a pre-tax net present value of \$1.3 billion at an 8% discount rate using a US\$3.10 per pound copper price based on the Company's 2020 NI 43-101 technical report. Capital costs of the project are estimated at \$1.3 billion over a 2-year construction period. Over the first 5 years of operation, the copper equivalent grade will average 0.35% producing an average of 200 million pounds of copper per year at an average C1* cost, net of by-product credit, of US\$1.67 per pound of copper. The Yellowhead copper project contains valuable precious metal by-products with 440,000 ounces of gold and 19 million ounces of silver with a life of mine value of over \$1 billion at current prices.

The Company is focusing its current efforts on advancing into the environmental assessment process and is undertaking some additional engineering work in conjunction with ongoing engagement with local communities including First Nations. The Company is also collecting baseline data and modeling which will be used to support the environmental assessment and permitting of the project.

New Prosperity Gold-Copper Project

In late 2019, the Tŝilhqot'in Nation, as represented by Tŝilhqot'in National Government, and Taseko entered into a confidential dialogue, with the involvement of the Province of British Columbia, to try to obtain a long-term resolution to the conflict regarding Taseko's proposed gold-copper mine currently known as New Prosperity, acknowledging Taseko's commercial interests and the Tŝilhqot'in Nation's opposition to the project.

The dialogue was supported by the parties' agreement on December 7, 2019 to a one-year standstill on certain outstanding litigation and regulatory matters that relate to Taseko's tenures and the area in the vicinity of Te2tan Biny (Fish Lake). The standstill was extended on December 4, 2020, to continue what was a constructive dialogue that had been delayed by the COVID-19 pandemic. The dialogue is not complete but it remains constructive, and the parties have therefore agreed to extend the standstill for a further year so that they and the Province of British Columbia can continue to pursue a long-term and mutually acceptable resolution of the conflict.

Aley Niobium Project

Environmental monitoring and product marketing initiatives on the Aley niobium project continue. The converter pilot test is ongoing and is providing additional process data to support the design of the commercial process facilities and will provide final product samples for marketing purposes.



The Company will host a telephone conference call and live webcast on Wednesday, February 23, 2022 at 11:00 a.m. Eastern Time (8:00 a.m. Pacific, 4:00 p.m. GMT) to discuss these results. After opening remarks by management, there will be a question and answer session open to analysts and investors.

The conference call may be accessed by dialing 416-764-8688 in Canada, 888-390-0546 in the United States, 08006522435 in the United Kingdom, or online at <u>tasekomines.com/investors/events</u>.

The conference call will be archived for later playback until March 9, 2022 and can be accessed by dialing 416-764-8677 Canada, 1-888-390-0541 in the United States, or online at tasekomines.com/investors/events and using the passcode 510013#.

For further information on Taseko, please see the Company's website at <u>www.tasekomines.com</u> or contact:

Brian Bergot, Vice President, Investor Relations - 778-373-4554, toll free 1-800-667-2114

Stuart McDonald President & CEO

No regulatory authority has approved or disapproved of the information in this news release.

NON-GAAP PERFORMANCE MEASURES

This document includes certain non-GAAP performance measures that do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS. These measures may differ from those used by, and may not be comparable to such measures as reported by, other issuers. The Company believes that these measures are commonly used by certain investors, in conjunction with conventional IFRS measures, to enhance their understanding of the Company's performance. These measures have been derived from the Company's financial statements and applied on a consistent basis. The following tables below provide a reconciliation of these non-GAAP measures to the most directly comparable IFRS measure.

Total operating costs and site operating costs, net of by-product credits

Total costs of sales include all costs absorbed into inventory, as well as transportation costs and insurance recoverable. Site operating costs are calculated by removing net changes in inventory, depletion and amortization, insurance recoverable, and transportation costs from cost of sales. Site operating costs, net of by-product credits is calculated by subtracting by-product credits from the site operating costs. Site operating costs, net of by-product credits per pound are calculated by dividing the aggregate of the applicable costs by copper pounds produced. Total operating costs per pound is the sum of site operating costs, net of by-product credits are calculated based on actual sales of molybdenum (net of treatment costs) and silver during the period divided by the total pounds of copper produced during the period. These measures are calculated on a consistent basis for the periods presented.

(Cdn\$ in thousands, unless otherwise indicated) – 75% basis	2021 Q4	2021 Q3	2021 Q2	2021 Q1	2021 YE
Cost of sales	57,258	65,893	74,056	72,266	269,473
Less:					
Depletion and amortization	(16,202)	(17,011)	(17,536)	(15,838)	(66,587)
Net change in inventories of finished goods	13,497	762	(4,723)	2,259	11,795
Net change in inventories of ore stockpiles	4,804	6,291	2,259	(8,226)	5,128
Transportation costs	(4,436)	(5,801)	(4,303)	(3,305)	(17,845)
Site operating costs	54,921	50,134	49,753	47,156	201,964
Less by-product credits:					
Molybdenum, net of treatment costs	(7,755)	(8,574)	(6,138)	(5,604)	(28,071)
Silver, excluding amortization of deferred revenue	(330)	300	64	(238)	(204)
Site operating costs, net of by-product credits	46,836	41,860	43,679	41,314	173,689
Total copper produced (thousand pounds)	21,590	25,891	20,082	16,684	84,247
Total costs per pound produced	2.17	1.62	2.18	2.48	2.06
Average exchange rate for the period (CAD/USD)	1.26	1.26	1.23	1.27	1.25
Site operating costs, net of by-product credits					
(US\$ per pound)	1.72	1.28	1.77	1.96	1.64
Site operating costs, net of by-product credits	46,836	41,860	43,679	41,314	173,689
Add off-property costs:					
Treatment and refining costs	1,480	3,643	1,879	2,414	9,416
Transportation costs	4,436	5,801	4,303	3,305	17,845
Total operating costs	52,752	51,304	49,861	47,033	200,950
Total operating costs (C1) (US\$ per pound)	1.94	1.57	2.02	2.23	1.90

(Cdn\$ in thousands, unless otherwise indicated) – 75% basis	2020 Q4	2020 Q3	2020 Q2	2020 Q1	2020 YE
Cost of sales	79,083	75,969	81,181	83,309	319,542
Less:					
Depletion and amortization	(18,747)	(23,894)	(25,512)	(27,148)	(95,301)
Net change in inventories of finished goods	2,087	1,415	(5,753)	1,302	(949)
Net change in inventories of ore stockpiles	6,632	4,186	(50)	603	11,371
Transportation costs	(3,768)	(4,127)	(5,834)	(4,519)	(18,248)
Site operating costs	65,287	53,549	44,032	53,547	216,425
Less by-product credits:					
Molybdenum, net of treatment costs	(3,649)	(4,109)	(4,252)	(3,231)	(15,241)
Silver, excluding amortization of deferred revenue	133	(54)	(28)	(354)	(303)
Site operating costs, net of by-product credits	61,771	49,386	39,752	49,962	200,871
Total copper produced (thousand pounds)	18,725	21,658	27,576	24,318	92,277
Total costs per pound produced	3.30	2.28	1.44	2.05	2.18
Average exchange rate for the period (CAD/USD)	1.30	1.33	1.39	1.34	1.34
Site operating costs, net of by-product credits					
(US\$ per pound)	2.53	1.71	1.04	1.53	1.62
Site operating costs, net of by-product credits	61,771	49,386	39,752	49,962	200,871
Add off-property costs:					
Treatment and refining costs	3,284	4,254	5,676	4,956	18,170
Transportation costs	3,768	4,127	5,834	4,519	18,248
Total operating costs	68,823	57,767	51,262	59,437	237,289
Total operating costs (C1) (US\$ per pound)	2.82	2.00	1.34	1.82	1.92

Adjusted net income (loss)

Adjusted net income (loss) removes the effect of the following transactions from net income as reported under IFRS:

- Unrealized foreign currency gains/losses;
- Unrealized gain/loss on derivatives; and
- Loss on settlement of long-term debt and call premium, including realized foreign exchange gains.

Management believes these transactions do not reflect the underlying operating performance of our core mining business and are not necessarily indicative of future operating results. Furthermore, unrealized gains/losses on derivative instruments, changes in the fair value of financial instruments, and unrealized foreign currency gains/losses are not necessarily reflective of the underlying operating results for the reporting periods presented.

(Cdn\$ in thousands, except per share amounts)	2021 Q4	2021 Q3	2021 Q2	2021 Q1	2021 YE
Net income (loss)	11,762	22,485	13,442	(11,217)	36,472
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss	(1,817)	9,511	(3,764)	8,798	12,728
Realized foreign exchange gain on settlement of long- term debt	-	-	-	(13,000)	(13,000)
Loss on settlement of long-term debt	-	-	-	5,798	5,798
Call premium on settlement of long-term debt	-	-	-	6,941	6,941
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivatives	4,612	(6,817)	370	802	(1,033)
Estimated tax effect of adjustments	(1,245)	1,841	(100)	(3,651)	(3,161)
Adjusted net income (loss)	13,312	27,020	9,948	(5,535)	44,745
Adjusted EPS	0.05	0.10	0.04	(0.02)	0.16

(Cdn\$ in thousands, except per share amounts)	2020 Q4	2020 Q3	2020 Q2	2020 Q1	2020 YE
Net income (loss)	5,694	987	18,745	(48,950)	(23,524)
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss	(13,595)	(7,512)	(12,985)	29,747	(4,345)
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivatives	586	1,056	3,528	(3,348)	1,822
Estimated tax effect of adjustments	(158)	(285)	(953)	904	(492)
Adjusted net income (loss)	(7,473)	(5,754)	8,335	(21,647)	(26,539)
Adjusted EPS	(0.03)	(0.02)	0.03	(0.09)	(0.11)

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA is presented as a supplemental measure of the Company's performance and ability to service debt. Adjusted EBITDA is frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of companies in the industry, many of which present Adjusted EBITDA when reporting their results. Issuers of "high yield" securities also present Adjusted EBITDA because investors, analysts and rating agencies consider it useful in measuring the ability of those issuers to meet debt service obligations.

Adjusted EBITDA represents net income before interest, income taxes, and depreciation and also eliminates the impact of a number of items that are not considered indicative of ongoing operating performance. Certain items of expense are added and certain items of income are deducted from net income that are not likely to recur or are not indicative of the Company's underlying operating results for the reporting periods presented or for future operating performance and consist of:

- Unrealized foreign exchange gains/losses;
- Unrealized gain/loss on derivatives;
- Loss on settlement of long term debt (included in finance expenses) and call premium;
- Realized foreign exchange gain on settlement of long-term debt; and
- Amortization of share-based compensation expense.

(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021 Q4	2021 Q3	2021 Q2	2021 Q1	2021 YE
Net income (loss)	11,762	22,485	13,442	(11,217)	36,472
Add:	,	,	,	. , ,	,
Depletion and amortization	16,202	17,011	17,536	15,838	66,587
Finance expense (includes loss on settlement of long- term debt and call premium)	12,072	11,875	11,649	23,958	59,554
Finance income	(218)	(201)	(184)	(75)	(678)
Income tax (recovery) expense	9,300	22,310	7,033	(4,302)	34,341
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss	(1,817)	9,511	(3,764)	8,798	12,728
Realized foreign exchange gain on settlement of long- term debt	-	-	-	(13,000)	(13,000)
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivatives	4,612	(6,817)	370	802	(1,033)
Amortization of share-based compensation expense	1,075	117	1,650	2,920	5,762
Adjusted EBITDA	52,988	76,291	47,732	23,722	200,733
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2020 Q4	2020 Q3	2020 Q2	2020 Q1	2020 YE
Net income (loss)	5,694	987	18,745	(48,950)	(23,524)
Add:					
Depletion and amortization	18,747	23,894	25,512	27,148	95,301
Finance expense	10,575	11,203	10,461	10,771	43,010
Finance income	(47)	(4)	(48)	(150)	(249)
Income tax (recovery) expense	(2,724)	(580)	4,326	(10,118)	(9,096)
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss	(13,595)	(7,512)	(12,985)	29,747	(4,345)

Adjusted EBITDA	20,478	31,545	50,860	5,346	108,229
Amortization of share-based compensation expense	1,242	2,501	1,321	246	5,310
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivatives	586	1,056	3,528	(3,348)	1,822
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss	(13,595)	(7,512)	(12,985)	29,747	(4,345)
Income tax (recovery) expense	(2,724)	(580)	4,326	(10,118)	(9,096)
	()	(1)	(10)	(150)	(21))

Earnings from mining operations before depletion and amortization

Earnings from mining operations before depletion and amortization is earnings from mining operations with depletion and amortization added back. The Company discloses this measure, which has been derived from our financial statements and applied on a consistent basis, to provide assistance in understanding the results of the Company's operations and financial position and it is meant to provide further information about the financial results to investors.

(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021 Q4	2021 Q3	2021 Q2	2021 Q1	2021 YE
Earnings from mining operations	45,714	66,670	36,946	14,475	163,805
Add:					
Depletion and amortization	16,202	17,011	17,536	15,838	66,587
Earnings from mining operations before depletion and amortization	61,916	83,681	54,482	30,313	230,392
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2020 Q4	2020 Q3	2020 Q2	2020 Q1	2020 YE
Earnings (loss) from mining operations	8,315	11,811	24,824	(21,225)	23,725
Add:					
Depletion and amortization	18,747	23,894	25,512	27,148	95,301
Earnings from mining operations before depletion and amortization	27,062	35,705	50,336	5,923	119,026
Site operating costs per ton milled					
	2021	2021	2021		
(Cdn\$ in thousands, except per ton milled amounts)	Q4	Q3	Q2	2021 Q1	2021 YE
(Cdn\$ in thousands, except per ton milled amounts) Site operating costs (included in cost of sales)					
	Q4	Q3	Q2	Q1	YE
Site operating costs (included in cost of sales)	Q4 54,921	Q3 50,134	Q2 49,753	Q1 47,156	YE 201,964
Site operating costs (included in cost of sales) Tons milled (thousands) (75% basis)	Q4 54,921 5,523	Q3 50,134 5,576	Q2 49,753 5,429	Q1 47,156 5,402	YE 201,964 21,930
Site operating costs (included in cost of sales) Tons milled (thousands) (75% basis) Site operating costs per ton milled	Q4 54,921 5,523 \$9.94 2020	Q3 50,134 5,576 \$8.99 2020	Q2 49,753 5,429 \$9.16 2020	Q1 47,156 5,402 \$8.73 2020	YE 201,964 21,930 \$9.21 2020
Site operating costs (included in cost of sales) Tons milled (thousands) (75% basis) Site operating costs per ton milled (Cdn\$ in thousands, except per ton milled amounts)	Q4 54,921 5,523 \$9.94 2020 Q4	Q3 50,134 5,576 \$8.99 2020 Q3	Q2 49,753 5,429 \$9.16 2020 Q2	Q1 47,156 5,402 \$8.73 2020 Q1	YE 201,964 21,930 \$9.21 2020 YE

CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This document contains "forward-looking statements" that were based on Taseko's expectations, estimates and projections as of the dates as of which those statements were made. Generally, these forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as "outlook", "anticipate", "project", "target", "believe", "estimate", "expect", "intend", "should" and similar expressions.

Forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the Company's actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. These included but are not limited to:

- uncertainties about the effect of COVID-19 and the response of local, provincial, federal and international governments to the threat of COVID-19 on our operations (including our suppliers, customers, supply chain, employees and contractors) and economic conditions generally and in particular with respect to the demand for copper and other metals we produce;
- uncertainties and costs related to the Company's exploration and development activities, such as those associated with continuity of mineralization or determining whether mineral resources or reserves exist on a property;
- uncertainties related to the accuracy of our estimates of mineral reserves, mineral resources, production rates and timing of production, future production and future cash and total costs of production and milling;
- uncertainties related to feasibility studies that provide estimates of expected or anticipated costs, expenditures and economic returns from a mining project;
- uncertainties related to the ability to obtain necessary licenses permits for development projects and project delays due to third party opposition;
- uncertainties related to unexpected judicial or regulatory proceedings;
- changes in, and the effects of, the laws, regulations and government policies affecting our exploration and development activities and mining operations, particularly laws, regulations and policies;
- changes in general economic conditions, the financial markets and in the demand and market price for copper, gold
 and other minerals and commodities, such as diesel fuel, steel, concrete, electricity and other forms of energy, mining
 equipment, and fluctuations in exchange rates, particularly with respect to the value of the U.S. dollar and Canadian
 dollar, and the continued availability of capital and financing;
- the effects of forward selling instruments to protect against fluctuations in copper prices and exchange rate movements and the risks of counterparty defaults, and mark to market risk;
- the risk of inadequate insurance or inability to obtain insurance to cover mining risks;
- the risk of loss of key employees; the risk of changes in accounting policies and methods we use to report our financial condition, including uncertainties associated with critical accounting assumptions and estimates;
- environmental issues and liabilities associated with mining including processing and stock piling ore; and
- labour strikes, work stoppages, or other interruptions to, or difficulties in, the employment of labour in markets in which
 we operate mines, or environmental hazards, industrial accidents or other events or occurrences, including third party
 interference that interrupt the production of minerals in our mines.

For further information on Taseko, investors should review the Company's annual Form 40-F filing with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission <u>www.sec.gov</u> and home jurisdiction filings that are available at <u>www.sedar.com</u>.

Cautionary Statement on Forward-Looking Information

This discussion includes certain statements that may be deemed "forward-looking statements". All statements in this discussion, other than statements of historical facts, that address future production, reserve potential, exploration drilling, exploitation activities, and events or developments that the Company expects are forward-looking statements. Although we believe the expectations expressed in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, such statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results or developments may differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in forward-looking statements include market prices, exploitation and exploration successes, continued availability of capital and financing and general economic, market or business conditions. Investors are cautioned that any such statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results or developments may differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. All of the forward-looking statements made in this MD&A are qualified by these cautionary statements. We disclaim any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except to the extent required by applicable law. Further information concerning risks and uncertainties associated with these forward-looking statements and our business may be found in our most recent Form 40-F/Annual Information Form on file with the SEC and Canadian provincial securities regulatory authorities.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

This management discussion and analysis ("MD&A") is intended to help the reader understand Taseko Mines Limited ("Taseko", "we", "our" or the "Company"), our operations, financial performance, and current and future business environment. This MD&A is intended to supplement and complement the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board for the year ended December 31, 2021 (the "Financial Statements"). You are encouraged to review the Financial Statements in conjunction with your review of this MD&A and the Company's other public filings, which are available on the Canadian Securities Administrators' website at <u>www.sedar.com</u> and on the EDGAR section of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission's ("SEC") website at <u>www.sec.gov</u>.

This MD&A is prepared as of February 22, 2022. All dollar figures stated herein are expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise specified. Included throughout this MD&A are references to non-GAAP performance measures which are denoted with an asterisk and further explanation including their calculations are provided on page 30.

Cautionary Statement on Forward-Looking Information

This discussion includes certain statements that may be deemed "forward-looking statements". All statements in this discussion, other than statements of historical facts, that address future production, reserve potential, exploration drilling, exploitation activities, and events or developments that the Company expects are forwardlooking statements. Although we believe the expectations expressed in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, such statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results or developments may differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in forward-looking statements include market prices, global economic events arising from the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic outbreak, exploitation and exploration successes, continued availability of capital and financing and general economic, market or business conditions. Investors are cautioned that any such statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results or developments may differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. All of the forward-looking statements made in this MD&A are qualified by these cautionary statements. We disclaim any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except to the extent required by applicable law. Further information concerning risks and uncertainties associated with these forward-looking statements and our business may be found in the Company's other public filings with the SEC and Canadian provincial securities regulatory authorities.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

CONTENTS

OVERVIEW
HIGHLIGHTS
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE7
GIBRALTAR OUTLOOK
FLORENCE COPPER
LONG-TERM GROWTH STRATEGY9
MARKET REVIEW
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
FINANCIAL CONDITION REVIEW15
SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION19
FOURTH QUARTER RESULTS
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS26
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES26
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES27
INTERNAL AND DISCLOSURE CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING27
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS29
NON-GAAP PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

OVERVIEW

Taseko is a copper focused mining company that seeks to create long-term shareholder value by acquiring, developing, and operating large tonnage mineral deposits in stable jurisdictions which are capable of supporting a mine for decades. The Company's principal operating asset is the 75% owned Gibraltar mine, which is located in central British Columbia and is one of the largest copper mines in North America. Taseko also owns Florence Copper, which is advancing towards construction with commercial production expected in 2023, as well as the Yellowhead copper, New Prosperity gold-copper, and Aley niobium projects.

HIGHLIGHTS

Operating Data (Gibraltar - 100% basis)	Three months ended December 31,			Year ended December 31,		
	2021	2020	Change	2021	2020	Change
Tons mined (millions)	23.3	26.4	(3.1)	105.4	98.7	6.7
Tons milled (millions)	7.4	7.5	(0.1)	29.2	30.1	(0.9)
Production (million pounds Cu)	28.8	25.0	3.8	112.3	123.0	(10.7)
Sales (million pounds Cu)	23.8	25.0	(1.2)	104.9	124.0	(19.1)

Financial Data	Three months ended December 31,			D		
(Cdn\$ in thousands, except for per share amounts)	2021	2020	Change	2021	2020	Change
Revenues Earnings from mining operations before depletion	102,972	87,398	15,574	433,278	343,267	90,011
and amortization*	61,916	27,062	34,854	230,392	119,026	111,366
Cash flows provided by operations	37,231	20,424	16,807	174,769	106,195	68,574
Adjusted EBITDA*	52,988	20,478	32,510	200,733	108,229	92,504
Adjusted net income (loss)*	13,312	(7,473)	20,785	44,745	(26,539)	71,284
Per share - basic ("Adjusted EPS")*	0.05	(0.03)	0.08	0.16	(0.11)	0.27
Net income (loss) (GAAP)	11,762	5,694	6,068	36,472	(23,524)	59,996
Per share - basic ("EPS")	0.04	0.02	0.02	0.13	(0.09)	0.22

Management's Discussion and Analysis

2021 Annual Review

- Earnings from mining operations before depletion and amortization* was \$230.4 million, Adjusted EBITDA* was \$200.7 million, and cash flows from operations was \$174.8 million;
- Adjusted net income* was \$44.7 million (\$0.16 per share) and GAAP Net income was \$36.5 million (\$0.13 per share) for the year;
- Total operating costs (C1)* for the year were US\$1.90 per pound produced;
- The Gibraltar mine produced 112.3 million pounds of copper and 2.0 million pounds of molybdenum in 2021. Copper recoveries were 82.4% and copper head grades were 0.23%;
- Gibraltar sold 104.9 million pounds of copper for the year (100% basis) which contributed to record revenue for Taseko of \$433.3 million and an increase of 26% over 2020. Average realized copper prices were US\$4.31 per pound for year, compared to the LME average price of US\$4.23 per pound;
- The Company has approximately \$300 million of available liquidity at December 31, 2021, including a cash balance of \$237 million and a new US\$50 million revolving credit facility with National Bank of Canada which closed in early October;
- Development costs incurred for Florence Copper were \$57.9 million in the year and included, detailed engineering and design of the commercial facility, initial deposits for major processing equipment for the SX/EW plant and ongoing site operating costs. These activities will allow the Florence project team to efficiently advance into construction upon receipt of the Underground Injection Control ("UIC") permit; and
- In December 2021, the Company completed its review of the draft UIC permit and no significant issues were identified. The EPA continues to advance their review process and the public comment period on the draft UIC permit is expected to commence shortly after the draft UIC permit is publicly issued.

Fourth Quarter Review

- Fourth quarter earnings from mining operations before depletion and amortization* was \$61.9 million, Adjusted EBITDA* was \$53.0 million, Adjusted net income* was \$13.3 million (\$0.05 per share) and GAAP Net income was \$11.8 million (\$0.04 per share);
- Total operating costs (C1)* for the quarter were US\$1.94 per pound produced;
- The Gibraltar mine produced 28.8 million pounds of copper and 450 thousand pounds of molybdenum in the fourth quarter. Copper recoveries were 80.4% and copper head grades were 0.24%;
- Gibraltar sold 23.8 million pounds of copper in the quarter (100% basis). Due to extreme flooding in southwest British Columbia in November which washed out highways and rail infrastructure, transportation options were impacted which resulted in a build-up of copper concentrate inventory to 9.9 million pounds at year end. Concentrate inventory should return to more normal levels by the end of the first quarter of 2022;
- Average realized copper prices were US\$4.37 per pound in the quarter, which contributed \$103.0 million of revenue for Taseko;
- Cashflow from operations was \$37.2 million which was impacted by \$20.5 million in non-cash working capital attributed to the higher year-end inventory. Capital expenditures of \$35.2 million included Florence spend of \$14.8 million in the quarter;
- The Company has recently extended its copper price protection and now has more than 90% of its attributable production secured for 2022 year at a minimum copper price of US\$4.00 per pound. Fourth

Management's Discussion and Analysis

quarter Adjusted net income and Adjusted EBITDA were impacted by a \$6.4 million realized derivative loss (\$0.02 per share) related to copper put options that expired in the quarter; and

• In November 2021, Gibraltar's unionized workforce ratified a new, long-term collective bargaining agreement which will be in place until May 31, 2024.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Gibraltar mine (75% Owned)

Operating data (100% basis)	Q4 2021	Q3 2021	Q2 2021	Q1 2021	Q4 2020	YE 2021	YE 2020
Tons mined (millions)	23.3	25.2	24.9	32.0	26.4	105.4	98.7
Tons milled (millions)	7.4	7.4	7.2	7.2	7.5	29.2	30.1
Strip ratio	2.2	1.3	2.3	6.0	1.9	2.5	2.0
Site operating cost per ton milled (Cdn\$)*	\$9.94	\$8.99	\$9.16	\$8.73	\$11.67	\$9.21	\$9.59
Copper concentrate							
Head grade (%)	0.24	0.28	0.22	0.19	0.20	0.23	0.24
Copper recovery (%)	80.4	84.2	83.3	81.5	83.3	82.4	84.3
Production (million pounds Cu)	28.8	34.5	26.8	22.2	25.0	112.3	123.0
Sales (million pounds Cu)	23.8	32.4	26.7	22.0	25.0	104.9	124.0
Inventory (million pounds Cu)	9.9	4.9	3.5	3.6	3.4	9.9	3.4
Molybdenum concentrate							
Production (thousand pounds Mo)	450	571	402	530	549	1,954	2,269
Sales (thousand pounds Mo)	491	502	455	552	487	2,000	2,239
Per unit data (US\$ per pound produced) [*]							
Site operating costs*	\$2.02	\$1.53	\$2.02	\$2.23	\$2.67	\$1.91	\$1.75
By-product credits [*]	(0.30)	(0.25)	(0.25)	(0.27)	(0.14)	(0.27)	(0.13)
Site operating costs, net of by-product credits*	\$1.72	\$1.28	\$1.77	\$1.96	\$2.53	\$1.64	\$1.62
Off-property costs	0.22	0.29	0.25	0.27	0.29	0.26	0.30
Total operating costs (C1)*	\$1.94	\$1.57	\$2.02	\$2.23	\$2.82	\$1.90	\$1.92

Management's Discussion and Analysis

OPERATIONS ANALYSIS

Full Year Results

Gibraltar produced 112.3 million pounds of copper in 2021 compared to 123.0 million in 2020. Copper grade for the year averaged 0.23% copper, compared to 0.24% in 2020. Copper recoveries for 2021 was 82.4%, compared to 84.3% in 2020.

A total of 105.4 million tons were mined in the year in line with the mine plan and a 7% increase over the prior year period. The strip ratio increased primarily as a result of the waste mining transitioning into the Pollyanna pit in the first quarter of 2021 and lower mining rates in 2020 in response to the onset of COVID-19. Pollyanna ore was the primary mill feed in 2021, and waste stripping activities began in the Gibraltar pit in 2021 with first ore being mined in the fourth quarter.

Total site spending (including capitalized stripping of \$59.9 million on a 75% basis) was 9% higher than the prior year due to higher mining rates in 2021. Sustaining capital expenditures at Gibraltar (75% basis) were \$27.9 million for the year, compared to \$20.3 million for the prior year due to greater scheduled component replacements in 2021 for the mining fleet.

Molybdenum production was 2.0 million pounds in the year compared to 2.3 million pounds in the prior year. Molybdenum prices also strengthened in 2021 with an average molybdenum price of US\$15.94 per pound, an increase of 84% compared to the 2020 average price of US\$8.68 per pound. By-product credits per pound of copper produced was US\$0.27 in the year compared to US\$0.13 in the prior year.

Off-property costs per pound produced* were US\$0.26 for the year, which is US\$0.04 lower than the prior year, as the Company benefited by a 4% reduction in the benchmark treatment and refining charges ("TCRC") in 2021 and realized lower TCRCs for spot tenders that were delivered at some of the lowest levels ever seen by the Gibraltar mine due to tight copper market conditions.

Total operating costs per pound produced (C1)* were US\$1.90 for the year, a slight decrease compared to the prior year. The decrease in the C1* costs was primarily due to the higher by-product credits and lower off-property costs, partially offset by the increase in site costs and the impact of decreased copper production.

Fourth Quarter Results

Copper production in the fourth quarter was 28.8 million pounds and was impacted by lower grades and recoveries from ore mined in the upper benches of the Gibraltar pit. Increased oxidization and pyrite content in this ore has resulted in lower recoveries which management believes is a short-term issue that will be resolved. Ore quality is expected to improve as mining progresses deeper into the Gibraltar pit. In December, heavy snowfall and temperatures as low as minus 35 degrees Celsius also impacted mine equipment and mill availabilities, resulting in decreased mill throughput and a need to draw ore from lower grade stockpiles.

The Company realized 23.8 million pounds of copper sales in the fourth quarter which was lower than copper production of 28.8 million pounds. Major disruption to the highway and rail infrastructure in southwest British Columbia from severe rainstorms and flooding in November prevented significant production from being delivered to the port for shipping. Copper concentrate inventories ended the year at 9.9 million pounds.

A total of 23.3 million tons were mined in the fourth quarter. The strip ratio increased over the prior quarter due to mining activities transitioning into the higher strip ratio Gibraltar pit. The mill feed in the fourth quarter came primarily from Pollyanna but also included ore from the Gibraltar pit.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Total site spending (including capitalized stripping of \$12.7 million on a 75% basis) was 7% higher than the prior quarter and included retroactive payments from the newly ratified collective bargaining agreement. Sustaining capital expenditures at Gibraltar of \$6.5 million on a 75% basis included component replacements for the mining fleet, including scheduled work on the shovels.

Molybdenum production was 450 thousand pounds in the fourth quarter and at an average molybdenum price of US\$18.89 per pound, generated a notable by-product credit per pound of copper produced of US\$0.30 in the fourth quarter.

Off-property costs per pound produced* were US\$0.22 for the fourth quarter which benefitted from lower copper pounds sold. The Company also realized lower TCRC in the fourth quarter as two spot tenders were delivered at much lower TCRC rates than the annual benchmark rate, which reflects the tight physical market for copper concentrate from overseas smelters.

Total operating costs per pound produced (C1)* were US\$1.94 for the quarter and increased due to the decreased copper production and higher site costs in the fourth quarter compared to the third quarter.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Nothing is more important to Taseko than the safety, health and well-being of our workers and their families. Taseko places a high priority on the continuous improvement of performance in the areas of employee health and safety at the workplace and protection of the environment.

In April 2021, Taseko published its second Environmental, Social, and Governance ("ESG") report, which includes an examination of the Company's sustainability performance for 2020. The report is available on the Company's website at www.tasekomines.com/esg.

In this report, Taseko has reported Scope 1 and 2 greenhouse gas emissions for the Gibraltar mine which show that the mine ranks in the first quartile of all copper mines globally. When commercial operations at Florence Copper commences, the Company's combined greenhouse gas emissions intensity will drop even lower, to an estimated 1.53 tonnes of CO2 per tonne of copper equivalent, based on an independent analysis by Skarn Associates.

Gibraltar's 2021 ESG report will be published in the second quarter of 2022.

GIBRALTAR OUTLOOK

Gibraltar is expected to produce 115 million pounds (+/- 5%) of copper in 2022 on a 100% basis, with production weighted to the back half of the year and the first quarter being the lowest production quarter, similar to 2021. The expected sales of excess copper concentrate inventory carried over from 2021 will bolster earnings in the first quarter of 2022.

Strong metal prices and US dollar combined with our copper hedge protection continues to provide tailwinds for a strong financial performance and operating margins at the Gibraltar mine over the coming year. Copper prices in 2021 averaged US\$4.23 per pound and are currently around US\$4.50 and molybdenum prices are currently US\$18.78 per pound, 18% higher than the average price in 2021.

The copper price outlook for 2022 remains quite favorable with limited exchange inventories and ongoing supply constraints failing to keep up to demand. Many governments are focusing on increased infrastructure investment to stimulate economic recovery after the pandemic, including green initiatives, which will require new primary supplies of copper. Although some analysts predict a balanced copper market by 2023 based on known projects

Management's Discussion and Analysis

currently under development, most industry analysts are projecting ongoing supply constraints and deficits, which should support higher copper prices in the years to come.

The Company has a long track record of purchasing copper price options to manage copper price volatility. This strategy provides security over the Company's cash flow as it prepares for construction of Florence Copper while providing significant upside should copper prices continue at these levels or increase further. In particular, the Company has secured more than 90% of attributable production with copper collars which protect a minimum copper price of US\$4.00 per pound for 2022.

FLORENCE COPPER

The commercial production facility at Florence Copper will be one of the greenest sources of copper for US domestic consumption, with carbon emissions, water and energy consumption all dramatically lower than a conventional mine. It is a low-cost copper project with an annual production capacity of 85 million pounds of copper over a 21-year mine life. With the expected C1* operating cost of US\$1.10 per pound, Florence Copper will be in the lowest quartile of the global copper cost curve and will have one of the smallest environmental footprints of any copper mine in the world.

The Company has successfully operated a Production Test Facility ("PTF") since 2018 at Florence to demonstrate that the in-situ copper recovery ("ISCR") process can produce high quality cathode while operating within permit conditions.

The next phase of Florence Copper will be the construction and operation of the commercial ISCR facility with an estimated capital cost of US\$230 million (including reclamation bonding and working capital) based on the Company's published 2017 NI 43-101 technical report. At a conservative copper price of US\$3.00 per pound, Florence Copper is expected to generate an after-tax internal rate of return of 37%, an after-tax net present value of US\$680 million at a 7.5% discount rate, and an after-tax payback period of 2.5 years.

In December 2020, the Company received the Aquifer Protection Permit ("APP") from the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality ("ADEQ"). During the APP process, Florence Copper received strong support from local community members, business owners and elected officials. The other required permit is the UIC permit from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), which is the final permitting step required prior to construction of the commercial ISCR facility. On November 22, 2021, the EPA provided the Company with an initial draft of the UIC permit. Taseko's project technical team completed its review of the draft UIC permit in early December 2021 and no significant issues were identified. Based on ongoing dialogue with the EPA, the Company continues to expect the draft UIC permit to be publicly issued very soon, and then a 45-day public comment period will commence.

Detailed engineering and design for the commercial production facility is complete and procurement activities are well advanced with the Company making initial deposits and awarding the key contract for the major processing equipment associated with the SX/EW plant in 2021. The Company incurred \$58 million of costs for Florence in 2021 including for the commercial facility activities and also had outstanding purchase commitments of \$38 million as at December 31, 2021 to be incurred in 2022. Deploying this strategic capital and awarding key contracts will assist with protecting the project execution plan, mitigating inflation risk and the potential impact of supply chain disruptions and ensure a smooth transition into construction once the final UIC permit is received.

At current copper prices, the Company expects to be able to fund construction of the commercial facility from its existing sources of liquidity and cashflows from Gibraltar.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

LONG-TERM GROWTH STRATEGY

Taseko's strategy has been to grow the Company by acquiring and developing a pipeline of complementary projects focused on copper in stable mining jurisdictions. We continue to believe this will generate long-term returns for shareholders. Our other development projects are located in British Columbia.

Yellowhead Copper Project

Yellowhead Mining Inc. ("Yellowhead") has an 817 million tonnes reserve and a 25-year mine life with a pre-tax net present value of \$1.3 billion at an 8% discount rate using a US\$3.10 per pound copper price based on the Company's 2020 NI 43-101 technical report. Capital costs of the project are estimated at \$1.3 billion over a 2-year construction period. Over the first 5 years of operation, the copper equivalent grade will average 0.35% producing an average of 200 million pounds of copper per year at an average C1* cost, net of by-product credit, of US\$1.67 per pound of copper. The Yellowhead copper project contains valuable precious metal by-products with 440,000 ounces of gold and 19 million ounces of silver with a life of mine value of over \$1 billion at current prices.

The Company is focusing its current efforts on advancing into the environmental assessment process and is undertaking some additional engineering work in conjunction with ongoing engagement with local communities including First Nations. The Company is also collecting baseline data and modeling which will be used to support the environmental assessment and permitting of the project.

New Prosperity Gold-Copper Project

In late 2019, the Tŝilhqot'in Nation, as represented by Tŝilhqot'in National Government, and Taseko entered into a confidential dialogue, with the involvement of the Province of British Columbia, to try to obtain a long-term resolution to the conflict regarding Taseko's proposed gold-copper mine currently known as New Prosperity, acknowledging Taseko's commercial interests and the Tŝilhqot'in Nation's opposition to the project.

The dialogue was supported by the parties' agreement on December 7, 2019 to a one-year standstill on certain outstanding litigation and regulatory matters that relate to Taseko's tenures and the area in the vicinity of Teźtan Biny (Fish Lake). The standstill was extended on December 4, 2020, to continue what was a constructive dialogue that had been delayed by the COVID-19 pandemic. The dialogue is not complete but it remains constructive, and the parties have therefore agreed to extend the standstill for a further year so that they and the Province of British Columbia can continue to pursue a long-term and mutually acceptable resolution of the conflict.

Aley Niobium Project

Environmental monitoring and product marketing initiatives on the Aley niobium project continue. The converter pilot test is ongoing and is providing additional process data to support the design of the commercial process facilities and will provide final product samples for marketing purposes.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

MARKET REVIEW



Prices (USD per pound for Commodities)

(Source Data: Bank of Canada, Platts Metals, and London Metals Exchange)

Copper prices are currently around US\$4.50 per pound with continued upside amongst a bullish market backdrop and sentiment. Record levels of more than US\$4.70 per pound were tested in both May and September of 2021 due to tight physical metal availability in the market. Copper prices have steadily recovered since the onset of COVID-19 and supply chain bottlenecks and tight supply conditions provide near term catalysts for elevated prices to continue. Material changes to taxes and royalty rates in key copper producing countries and threats of strikes and civil unrest also remain a risk to supply in the near term. Focus for 2022 turns to the expected demand growth and inflation arising from the economic recovery in North America and Europe resulting from unprecedented stimulus measures being implemented by central governments, although some geopolitical headwinds continue to create volatility in the timing and duration of this recovery. While some analysts predict a potential copper market balance by 2023 based on development projects under construction, the longer-term outlook for copper remains extremely favorable with the focus on government investment in construction and infrastructure including initiatives focused on green sources of power and the electrification of transportation which are inherently copper intensive. This increased demand for copper after years of under investment by the industry in new mine supply is expected to support strong copper prices well into the later part of this decade.

The average molybdenum price was US\$15.94 per pound during 2021, compared to US\$8.68 per pound in 2020. During 2021, molybdenum prices reached decade high levels at over US\$20.00 per pound and are currently around US\$18.78 per pound with a strong outlook for 2022, driven by steel demand from the global recovery and a rebound in the oil and gas sector. The Company's sales agreements specify molybdenum pricing based on the published Platts Metals reports.

Approximately 80% of the Gibraltar mine's costs are Canadian dollar denominated and therefore, fluctuations in the Canadian/US dollar exchange rate can have a significant effect on the Company's operating results and unit production costs, which are earned and in some cases reported in US dollars. Overall, the average Canadian dollar strengthened against the US dollar during 2021 compared to the average rate in the prior year.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Earnings

	Year ended December 31,			
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021	2020	Change	
Net income (loss)	36,472	(23,524)	59,996	
Net unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss	12,728	(4,345)	17,073	
Realized foreign exchange gain on settlement of long-term debt	(13,000)	-	(13,000)	
Loss on settlement of long-term debt	5,798	-	5,798	
Call premium on settlement of long-term debt	6,941	-	6,941	
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments	(1,033)	1,822	(2,855)	
Estimated tax effect of adjustments	(3,161)	(492)	(2,669)	
Adjusted net income (loss) *	44,745	(26,539)	71,284	

The Company's adjusted net income was \$44.7 million (\$0.16 per share) for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to an adjusted net loss of \$26.5 million (\$0.11 loss per share) for the prior year. The increased adjusted net income in the current year was primarily due to the impact of higher copper prices and lower capitalized stripping costs. During 2021, earnings from mining operations was positively impacted by a higher average LME copper price of US\$4.23 per pound, an increase of 51% over the average price in 2020, partially offset by the lower copper sales volumes. An increase in waste stripping costs being capitalized due to transitions in Pollyanna and mining in the Gibraltar Pit and lower depletion and amortization expense also positively impacted earnings. After inclusion of the foreign exchange gains and losses and unrealized gains on derivative instruments, the Company's net income was \$36.5 million (\$0.13 per share) for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to net loss of \$23.5 million (\$0.09 loss per share) for the prior year.

Net income (GAAP) for the year ended December 31, 2021 was impacted by the \$5.8 million settlement loss and \$6.9 million call premium paid upon repayment of the 2022 senior secured notes ("2022 Notes") from the February 2022 Note refinancing. Earnings was also impacted by a realized loss on copper puts purchased for \$14.5 million in premium paid covering 2021 production, which are not adjusted for.

No adjustments are made to adjusted net income (loss) for positive or negative provisional price adjustments as these adjustments normalize or reverse throughout the year.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Revenues

	Year ended December 31,				
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021	2020	Change		
Copper contained in concentrate	401,514	331,584	69,930		
Copper price adjustments on settlement	8,098	9,394	(1,296)		
Molybdenum concentrate	28,862	18,842	10,020		
Molybdenum price adjustments on settlement	2,580	460	2,120		
Silver	5,010	5,218	(208)		
Total gross revenue	446,064	365,498	80,566		
Less: Treatment and refining costs	(12,786)	(22,231)	9,445		
Revenue	433,278	343,267	90,011		
(thousands of pounds, unless otherwise noted)					
Sales of copper in concentrate ¹	75,830	89,697	(13,867)		
Average realized copper price (US\$ per pound)	4.31	2.84	1.47		
Average LME copper price (US\$ per pound)	4.23	2.80	1.43		
Average exchange rate (US\$/CAD)	1.25	1.34	(0.09)		

¹ This amount includes a net smelter payable deduction of approximately 3.5% to derive net payable pounds of copper sold.

Copper revenues for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased by \$69.9 million compared to the prior year, primarily due to higher copper prices in 2021, partially offset by decreases in the volume of payable copper sold by 13.9 million pounds (75% basis) and a stronger Canadian dollar. The Company also recognized positive net price adjustments of \$8.1 million, for provisionally priced copper concentrate due to increasing copper price trends following shipment.

Molybdenum revenues for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased by \$10.0 million compared to the prior year, primarily due to higher average molybdenum prices of US\$15.94 per pound, compared to US\$8.68 per pound for the prior year period, partially offset by lower molybdenum sales volumes by 179 thousand pounds (75% basis).

Treatment and refining costs for the year ended December 31, 2021 decreased by \$9.4 million compared to the prior year, due to lower copper TCRC benchmarks in 2021, more competitive terms and deep discounts on spot tenders and long-term contracts, and a decrease in the copper sales volume.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Cost of sales

	Year ended December 31,				
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021	2020	Change		
Site operating costs	201,964	216,415	(14,451)		
Transportation costs	17,845	18,248	(403)		
Changes in inventories of finished goods	(11,795)	939	(12,734)		
Changes in inventories of ore stockpiles	(5,128)	(11,361)	6,233		
Production costs	202,886	224,241	(21,355)		
Depletion and amortization	66,587	95,301	(28,714)		
Cost of sales	269,473	319,542	(50,069)		
Site operating costs per ton milled*	\$9.21	\$9.59	\$(0.38)		

Site operating costs for the year ended December 31, 2021 decreased by \$14.5 million compared to the prior year primarily due to greater mining costs being capitalized in 2021 (\$59.9 million) compared to 2020 (\$26.3 million) partially offset by higher operating costs associated with more tons being mined in 2021. Fuel prices and other input cost savings reduced operating costs in 2020 during the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Cost of sales is also impacted by changes in copper concentrate inventories and ore stockpiles. For the year ended December 31, 2021, there was an increase of 6.5 million pounds of copper concentrate inventories during the year, which resulted in a decrease in production costs of \$11.8 million. There was also an overall increase of 1.3 million tons in the ore stockpiles during 2021, which resulted in a decrease in production costs of \$5.1 million compared to an increase of 3.0 million tons in ore stockpiles and a decrease in production costs of \$11.4 million in 2020.

Depletion and amortization for the year ended December 31, 2021 decreased by \$28.7 million over the prior year as ore tons that were mined from the Granite pit in 2020 had a higher capitalized stripping depreciation cost per ton compared to the ore being mined from the Pollyanna and Gibraltar pits in 2021.

	Year ended December 31,			
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021	2020	Change	
General and administrative	16,937	14,636	2,301	
Share-based compensation expense	5,507	5,075	432	
Project evaluation (recovery) expenditures	(408)	1,397	(1,805)	
Realized (gain) loss on derivative instruments	14,041	(3,759)	17,800	
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments	(1,033)	1,822	(2,855)	
Other income, net	(1,483)	(1,495)	12	
	33,561	17,676	15,885	

Other operating (income) expenses

General and administrative expenses have increased in the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to prior year, primarily due to employment and consulting services provided by retiring executives as part of the Company's succession plan.

Share-based compensation expense is comprised of the amortization of share options and performance share units and the expense on deferred share units. Share-based compensation expense increased for the year ended

Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2021, compared to the prior year, primarily due to the revaluation of the liability for deferred share units resulting from an increase in the Company's share price during the year. More information is set out in Note 21 of the December 31, 2021 Financial Statements.

Project evaluation expenditures (recovery) represent costs associated with the New Prosperity project.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company realized a net loss of \$14.0 million for its derivatives instruments, which consists of \$14.5 million for premiums paid for copper put options that settled out-of-the-money during the year and a \$0.5 million gain on fuel call options. The net realized gain of \$3.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2020 relates primarily to copper put options that settled in the money during 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the net unrealized gain of \$1.0 million relates substantially to outstanding copper collars covering production for the first half of 2022.

Finance expenses and income

	Year ended December 31,				
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021	2020	Change		
Interest expense	40,893	37,288	3,605		
Finance expense – deferred revenue	5,549	5,172	377		
Accretion of PER	373	550	(177)		
Finance income	(678)	(249)	(429)		
Loss on settlement of long-term debt	5,798	-	5,798		
Finance expenses, net	51,935	42,761	9,174		
Call premium on settlement of long-term debt	6,941	-	6,941		

Interest expense increased in 2021 due to the increase in long term debt by US\$150 million from the issuance of the US\$400 million 2026 Notes in February While the coupon on the 2026 Notes have decreased by 1.75%, there is an increase of US\$6.1. million in annual interest payable under the 2026 Notes compared to the 2022 Notes. The increase in interest expense in 2021 compared to the prior year was partially offset by the impact of foreign exchange and a stronger Canadian dollar in 2021.

As part of the senior secured notes refinancing in February, the Company redeemed its US\$250 million 2022 Notes which resulted in an accounting loss of \$5.8 million, comprised of the write-off of deferred financing costs of \$4.0 million and additional interest costs over the call period of \$1.8 million.

The Company also paid a redemption call premium of \$6.9 million on the settlement of the 2022 Notes.

Finance expense on deferred revenue adjustments represents the implicit financing component of the upfront deposit from the silver sales streaming arrangement with Osisko Gold Royalties Ltd. ("Osisko").

Income tax

	Year ended December 31,				
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021	2020	Change		
Current income tax expense	3,203	1,769	1,434		
Deferred income tax expense (recovery)	31,138	(10,865)	42,003		

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Income tax expense (recovery)	34,341	(9,096)	43,437
Effective tax rate	48.5%	27.9%	20.6%
Canadian statutory rate	27.0%	27.0%	-
B.C. mineral tax rate	9.5%	9.5%	-

The overall income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 was due to deferred income tax expense recognized on income for accounting purposes. The effective tax rate for the year is greater than the combined B.C. mineral and income tax rate of 36.5% due to the non-deductibility of unrealized foreign exchange loss on revaluation of the senior secured notes and as certain expenses such as finance charges and general and administration costs are not deductible for BC mineral tax purposes.

As foreign exchange revaluations on the senior secured notes are not recognized for tax purposes until realized, and in the case of capital losses, when they are applied, the effective tax rate may be significantly higher or lower than the statutory rates, as is the case for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2021, relative to net income (loss) for those periods.

The current income tax expense represents an estimate of B.C. mineral taxes payable for the current periods.

FINANCIAL CONDITION REVIEW

Balance sheet review

	At December 31,	At December 31,	
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021	2020	Change
Cash and equivalents	236,767	85,110	151,657
Other current assets	100,460	72,088	28,372
Property, plant and equipment	837,839	742,619	95,220
Other assets	8,129	10,548	(2,419)
Total assets	1,183,195	910,365	272,830
Current liabilities	85,172	60,867	24,305
Debt:			
Senior secured notes	497,388	313,965	183,423
Equipment related financings	34,361	49,439	(15,078)
Deferred revenue	45,356	47,154	(1,798)
Other liabilities	162,400	121,568	40,832
Total liabilities	824,677	592,993	231,684
Equity	358,518	317,372	41,146
Net debt (debt minus cash and equivalents)	294,982	278,294	16,688
Total common shares outstanding (millions)	284.9	282.1	2.8

The Company's asset base is comprised principally of property, plant and equipment, reflecting the capital intensive nature of Gibraltar and the mining business. Other current assets primarily include accounts receivable, inventories (concentrate inventories, ore stockpiles, and supplies), prepaid expenses, and marketable securities. Concentrate inventories, accounts receivable and cash balances can fluctuate due to transportation and cash settlement schedules.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Property, plant and equipment increased by \$95.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2021, which includes \$57.9 million for the development costs incurred for Florence Copper and due to greater capitalized stripping in 2021 in Gibraltar.

Net debt has increased by \$16.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily due to the senior secured notes refinancing in February 2021 including related transaction costs and the Company's investment in copper price protection extending out to June 2022.

Deferred revenue relates to the advance payments received from Osisko for the sale of Taseko's share of future silver production from Gibraltar.

Other liabilities increased by \$40.8 million primarily due to an increase in deferred tax liabilities and the changes in the estimate of the provision for environmental rehabilitation.

As at February 22, 2022, there were 285,980,119 common shares and 9,853,966 stock options outstanding. More information on these instruments and the terms of their exercise is set out in Note 21 of the December 31, 2021 Financial Statements.

Liquidity, cash flow and capital resources

At December 31, 2021, the Company had cash and equivalents of \$236.8 million (December 31, 2020 - \$85.1 million).

Cash flow provided by operations during the year ended December 31, 2021 was \$174.8 million compared to cash flow provided by operations of \$106.2 million for the prior year and increased primarily due to higher copper prices in 2021.

Cash used for investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2021 was \$147.7 million compared to cash used for investing activities of \$59.6 million for the prior year. Investing cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2021 includes \$87.8 million for capital expenditures at Gibraltar (including \$59.9 million for capitalized stripping costs) and \$42.9 million of capital expenditures paid for Florence Copper. Also included in investing activities is \$15.8 million for the purchase of copper put options covering production for 2021 and copper collars covering the first half of 2022 for the Company's share of Gibraltar's production.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was \$125.8 million. The Company received net incremental proceeds of \$170.2 million from issuance of the US\$400 million 7% senior secured notes ("2026 Notes") due in February 2026 and after redemption of the US\$250 million 2022 Notes. There are no principal payments required on the 2026 Notes until the maturity date in February 2026. The first interest payment of US\$14.4 million was paid on August 16, 2021.

Principal repayments for Gibraltar equipment loans and leases were \$19.7 million and interest paid was \$25.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Liquidity outlook

The Company has approximately \$300 million of available liquidity at December 31, 2021, including a cash balance of \$237 million and a new US\$50 million revolving credit facility which closed in early October.

With a minimum US\$4.00 per pound floor price for more than 90% of its expected copper production in 2022, continued strong operating margins and cash flows are expected from Gibraltar in 2022. Florence Copper has an estimated capital cost (including reclamation bonding and working capital) of approximately US\$230 million. The

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Company does not have any significant capital plans for its other development projects over the next 12 months. At current copper prices, the Company expects to be able to fund construction of the commercial facility at Florence Copper and planned expenditures at other development projects from its existing sources of liquidity and cashflows from Gibraltar.

If copper prices decrease, or Florence construction costs increase or if plans for other development projects materially change, the Company may require additional external funding. The Company could raise additional capital if needed through equity financings or asset sales, including royalties, sales of project interests, or joint ventures or additional credit facilities, including additional notes offerings. The Company evaluates these financing alternatives based on a number of factors including the prevailing metal prices and projected operating cash flow from Gibraltar, relative valuation, liquidity requirements, covenant restrictions and other factors, in order to optimize the Company's cost of capital and maximize shareholder value.

Future changes in copper and molybdenum market prices could also impact the timing and amount of cash available for future investment in the Company's development projects, debt obligations, and other uses of capital. To mitigate commodity price risks in the short-term, copper price options are entered into for a substantial portion of Taseko's share of Gibraltar copper production and the Company has a long track record of doing so (see "Hedging Strategy").

Hedging strategy

The Company's hedging strategy is to secure a minimum price for a significant portion of copper production using put options that are either purchased outright or funded by the sale of call options that are significantly out of the money. The amount and duration of the hedge position is based on an assessment of business-specific risk elements combined with the copper pricing outlook. Copper price and quantity exposure are reviewed regularly to ensure that adequate revenue protection is in place. Hedge positions are typically extended by adding incremental quarters at established put strike prices to provide the necessary price protection. The Company's hedging strategy is designed to mitigate short-term declines in copper price.

Considerations on the cost of the hedging program include an assessment of Gibraltar's estimated production costs, anticipated copper prices and the Company's capital requirements during the relevant period. In May 2021, the Company acquired copper collars securing a minimum copper price of US\$4.00 and a ceiling copper price of US\$5.60 per pound for 43 million pounds of copper over the first half of 2022. In the first quarter of 2022, the Company acquired additional copper collars securing a minimum copper price of US\$4.00 and a ceiling copper price of US\$5.40 per pound for 42 million pounds of copper over the second half of 2022.

From time to time, the Company will look at potential hedging opportunities to mitigate the risk of rising input costs, including foreign exchange and fuel prices where such a strategy is cost effective.

	Notional amount	Strike price	Term to maturity	Original cost
At December 31, 2021				
Copper collars	42.7 million lbs	US\$4.00 per lb US\$5.60 per lb	January 2022 to June 2022	\$4.7 million
Acquired subsequent to December 31, 2021				
Copper collars	42.0 million lbs	US\$4.00 per lb US\$5.40 per lb	July 2022 to December 2022	\$4.2 million

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Commitments and contingencies

Commitments

			Paymer	nts due			
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026	Thereafter	Total
Debt:							
2026 Notes ¹	-	-	-	-	507,120	-	507,120
Interest	35,498	35,498	35,498	35,498	17,749	-	159,741
Equipment loans:							
Principal	6,539	4,682	1,375	-	-	-	12,596
Interest	510	197	18	-	-	-	725
Lease liabilities:							
Principal	9,529	2,599	1,284	1,288	896	-	15,596
Interest	589	279	180	100	24	-	1,172
Lease related obligation:							
Rental payment	2,620	2,627	-	-	-	-	5,247
PER ²	-	-	-	-	-	87,571	87,571
Capital expenditures	36,530	1,885	-	-	-	-	38,415
Other expenditures							
Transportation related services ³	4,146	3,291	3,291	3,291	823	-	14,842

¹ In February 2021, the Company closed its offering of the 2026 Notes and a portion of the proceeds was used to redeem all of the 2022 Notes.

² Provision for environmental rehabilitation amounts presented in the table represents the present value of estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations required to retire an asset, including decommissioning and other site restoration activities, primarily for the Gibraltar mine and Florence Copper. As at December 31, 2021, the Company has provided a surety bond of \$37.5 million for its 75% share of Gibraltar's reclamation security. On January 31, 2022, the Company posted additional surety of \$21.9 million for its 75% share of Gibraltar reclamation security. For Florence Copper, the Company has provided to the federal and state regulator surety bonds totaling \$12.4 million as reclamation security.

³ Transportation related services commitments include ocean freight and port handling services, which are both cancellable upon certain operating circumstances.

The Company has made capital expenditure commitments relating to equipment for the Florence Copper project totaling \$37.9 million at December 31, 2021.

The Company has guaranteed 100% of certain equipment loans and leases entered into by Gibraltar in which it holds a 75% interest. As a result, the Company has guaranteed the joint venture partner's 25% share of this debt which amounted to \$10.1 million as at December 31, 2021.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION

	For the years ended December 31,				
(Cdn\$ in thousands, except per share amounts)	2021	2020	2019		
Revenues	433,278	343,267	329,163		
Net income (loss)	36,472	(23,524)	(53,382)		
Per share – basic	0.13	(0.09)	(0.22)		
Per share – diluted	0.13	(0.09)	(0.22)		

	As a	As at December 31,		
	2021	2020	2019	
Total assets	1,183,195	910,365	883,996	
Total long-term financial liabilities	518,087	349,312	358,508	

Management's Discussion and Analysis

FOURTH QUARTER RESULTS

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)	Three months ended December 31,	
(Cdn\$ in thousands, except per share amounts)	2021	2020
Revenues	102,972	87,398
Cost of sales	102,012	01,000
Production costs	(41,056)	(60,336)
Depletion and amortization	(16,202)	(18,747)
Earnings from mining operations	45,714	8,315
General and administrative	(3,570)	(4,944)
Share-based compensation expense	(1,033)	(1,216)
Project evaluation recovery (expenditures)	733	(109)
Loss on derivatives	(11,033)	(1,753)
Other income	337	352
Income before financing costs and income taxes	31,148	645
Finance expenses, net	(11,854)	(10,528)
Foreign exchange gain	1,768	12,853
Income before income taxes	21,062	2,970
Income tax recovery (expense)	(9,300)	2,724
Net income for the period	11,762	5,694
Other comprehensive income (loss):		
Unrealized gain (loss) on financial assets	206	(2,855)
Foreign currency translation reserve	(1,024)	(9,109)
Total other comprehensive loss for the period	(818)	(11,964)
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the period	10,944	(6,270)
Earnings per share		
Basic	0.04	0.02
Diluted	0.04	0.02
Weighted-average shares outstanding (in thousands)		
Basic	284,167	263,227
Diluted	288,511	266,140

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	Three months ended December 31,		
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021	2020	
Operating activities			
Net income for the period	11,762	5,694	
Adjustments for:			
Depletion and amortization	16,202	18,747	
Income tax expense (recovery)	9,300	(2,724)	
Finance expenses, net	11,854	10,528	
Share-based compensation expense	1,075	1,242	
Loss on derivatives	11,033	1,753	
Unrealized foreign exchange gain	(1,817)	(13,595)	
Amortization of deferred revenue	(826)	(1,229)	
Other operating activities	(805)	-	
Net change in working capital:			
Change in inventory	(17,761)	(8,991)	
Change in other working capital items	(2,786	8,999	
Cash provided by operating activities	37,231	20,424	
Investing activities			
Gibraltar capitalized stripping costs	(12,737)	(1,236)	
Gibraltar capital expenditures	(6,487)	(11,303)	
Florence Copper development costs	(14,766)	(3,923)	
Other project development costs	(1,187)	(1,029)	
Purchase of copper price options	-	(3,367)	
Other investing activities	2,312	46	
Cash used for investing activities	(32,865)	(20,812)	
Financing activities			
Proceeds from equity issuance, net of costs	-	34,299	
Other financing fees	(1,451)	-	
Repayment of equipment loans and leases	(4,938)	(4,655)	
Interest paid	(788)	(14,861)	
Proceeds from exercise of stock options	1,148	391	
Cash provided by (used for) financing activities	(6,029)	15,174	
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents	(721)	(2,354)	
Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents	(2,384)	12,432	
Cash and equivalents, beginning of period	239,151	72,678	
Cash and equivalents, end of period	236,767	85,110	

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Earnings

	Three D	1	
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021	2020	Change
Net income	11,762	5,694	6,068
Unrealized foreign exchange gain	(1,817)	(13,595)	11,778
Unrealized loss on copper put and fuel call options	4,612	586	4,026
Estimated tax effect of adjustments	(1,245)	(158)	(1,087)
Adjusted net income (loss)*	13,312	(7,473)	20,785

The Company's adjusted net income was \$13.3 million (\$0.05 per share) for the three months ended December 31, 2021, compared to an adjusted net loss of \$7.5 million (\$0.03 loss per share) in 2020. The increased adjusted net income in the current period was primarily due to greater earnings from mining operations before depletion and amortization* which was \$61.9 million for the current quarter compared to \$27.1 million for the same period in 2020. During the fourth quarter of 2021, earnings from mining operations was positively impacted by a higher average LME copper price of US\$4.40 per pound, an increase of 35% over the fourth quarter of 2020, which more than offset the lower copper sales volumes. An increase in waste stripping costs being capitalized and lower depletion and amortization expense also positively impacted earnings. After inclusion of \$1.8 million in unrealized foreign exchange gains on the outstanding senior secured notes and unrealized losses on derivative instruments, the Company's net income was \$11.8 million (\$0.04 per share) for the three months ended December 31, 2021, compared to \$5.7 million (\$0.02 per share) in 2020.

Net income (GAAP) for the three months ended December 31, 2020 was impacted by the increase in the Canadian dollar which resulted in an unrealized foreign exchange gain of \$13.6 million for the period, compared to \$1.8 million in unrealized foreign exchange gain in the three months ended December 31, 2021.

No adjustments are made to adjusted net income (loss) for positive or negative provisional price adjustments in the quarter as these adjustments normalize or reverse throughout the period.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Revenues

		Three months ended December 31,			
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021	2020	Change		
Copper contained in concentrate	95,143	77,523	17,620		
Copper price adjustments on settlement	396	8,413	(8,017)		
Molybdenum concentrate	8,660	4,162	4,498		
Molybdenum price adjustments on settlement	(103)	364	(467)		
Silver	1,156	1,097	59		
Total gross revenue	105,252	91,559	13,693		
Less: Treatment and refining costs	(2,280)	(4,161)	1,881		
Revenue	102,972	87,398	15,574		
(thousands of pounds, unless otherwise noted)					
Copper in concentrate ¹	17,208	18,091	(883)		
Average realized copper price (US\$ per pound)	4.37	3.69	0.68		
Average LME copper price (US\$ per pound)	4.40	3.25	1.15		
Average exchange rate (CAD/USD)	1.26	1.30	(0.04)		

¹ This amount includes a net smelter payable deduction of approximately 3.5% to derive net payable pounds of copper sold.

Copper revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2021 increased by \$17.6 million compared to the same period in 2020, due to higher prevailing LME copper prices by US\$1.15 per pound in the current quarter. Provisional price adjustments were less of a factor in the fourth quarter of 2021 compared to 2020 which saw a rising copper price environment. Partially offsetting the higher copper price this quarter is the decrease in the volume of payable copper sold by 0.9 million pounds (75% basis) and the weakening US dollar, which decreased 3.1% from the same prior period.

Molybdenum revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2021 increased by \$4.5 million compared to the same period in 2020 due to higher average molybdenum prices of US\$18.89 per pound, compared to US\$9.01 per pound for the same prior period.

Cost of sales

(Cdn\$ in thousands)	Three De	ł	
	2021	2020	Change
Site operating costs	54,921	65,287	(10,366)
Transportation costs	4,436	3,768	668
Changes in inventories of finished goods	(13,497)	(2,087)	(11,410)
Changes in inventories of ore stockpiles	(4,804)	(6,632)	1,828
Production costs	41,056	60,336	(19,280)
Depletion and amortization	16,202	18,747	(2,545)
Cost of sales	57,258	79,083	(21,825)

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Site operating costs per ton milled*	\$9.94	\$11.67	\$(1.73)

Site operating costs for the three months ended December 31, 2021 decreased by \$10.4 million compared to the same prior period primarily due to greater mining costs being capitalized in 2021 (\$12.7 million) compared to 2020 (\$1.2 million) and lower operating costs associated with 12% fewer tons being mined in the quarter.

Cost of sales is also impacted by changes in copper concentrate inventories and ore stockpiles. Due to extreme flooding in southwest BC in the fourth quarter and its impact on transportation, there was an increase of 5.0 million pounds of copper in finished goods which resulted in a decrease in production costs of \$13.5 million.

Depletion and amortization for the three months ended December 31, 2021 decreased by \$2.5 million over the same prior period. The decrease was primarily due to lower amortization of capitalized stripping costs due to lower ore tons mined in the current period compared to the same prior period.

Other operating (income) expenses

	Three De	ł	
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021	2020	Change
General and administrative	3,570	4,944	(1,374)
Share-based compensation expense	1,033	1,216	(183)
Project evaluation (recovery) expenditures	(733)	109	(842)
Realized loss on derivative instruments	6,421	1,167	5,254
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments	4,612	586	4,026
Other income, net	(337)	(352)	15
	14,566	7,670	6,896

General and administrative expenses have decreased in the three months ended December 31, 2021, compared to the same prior period, primarily due to the accrual in 2020 for employment and consulting services related to retiring executives as part of the Company's succession plan.

During the three months ended December 31, 2021, the Company realized a loss of \$6.4 million for premiums paid for copper put options covering fourth quarter production at a strike price of US\$3.75 per pound that settled out-of-the-money during the period. The realized loss of \$1.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2020 relates primarily to copper put options that settled out of-the-money.

For the three months ended December 31, 2021, the net unrealized loss of \$4.6 million relates to the fair value adjustments on the outstanding copper collars covering the first half of 2022.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Finance expenses and income

(Cdn\$ in thousands)	Three months ended December 31,				
	2021	2020	Change		
Interest expense	10,636	9,147	1,489		
Finance expense – deferred revenue	1,373	1,291	82		
Accretion of PER	63	137	(74)		
Finance income	(218)	(47)	(171)		
Finance expense, net	11,854	10,528	1,326		

Interest expense for the three months ended December 31, 2021 increased for the prior year period due to higher overall interest accrued on the new senior secured notes issued in February 2021.

Finance expense on deferred revenue adjustments represents the implicit financing component of the upfront deposit from the silver sales streaming arrangement with Osisko.

Income tax

	Three D	t	
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021	2020	Change
Current income tax expense	908	490	418
Deferred income tax expense (recovery)	8,392	(3,214)	11,606
	9,300	(2,724)	12,024
Effective tax rate	44.2%	(91.7)%	135.9%
Canadian statutory rate	27.0%	27.0%	-
B.C. mineral tax rate	9.5%	9.5%	-

The overall income tax expense for the three months ended December 31, 2021 was due to deferred income tax expense recognized on income for accounting purposes. The effective tax rate for the current fourth quarter is greater than the combined B.C. mineral and income tax rate of 36.5% due to the non-taxability of unrealized foreign exchange gains on revaluation of the senior secured notes and as certain expenses such as finance charges and general and administration costs are not deductible for BC mineral tax purposes.

As foreign exchange revaluations on the senior secured notes are not recognized for tax purposes until realized, and in the case of capital losses, when they are applied, the effective tax rate may be significantly higher or lower than the statutory rates, as is the case for the three months ended December 31, 2020 and 2021, relative to net income (loss) for those periods

Current income taxes represents an estimate of B.C. mineral taxes payable for the fourth quarter.

Liquidity, cash flow and capital resources

Cash flow provided by operations during the three months ended December 31, 2021 was \$37.2 million compared to cash flow provided by operations of \$20.4 million for the same prior period due primarily to higher copper prices and higher capitalized stripping in 2021. Cash flow provided by operations in the current period was impacted by negative net working capital adjustments of \$20.5 million.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Cash used for investing activities during the three months ended December 31, 2021 was \$32.9 million compared to cash used for investing activities of \$20.8 million for the same prior period. Investing cash flows in the fourth quarter includes \$19.2 million for capital expenditures at Gibraltar (including \$12.7 million for capitalized stripping costs) and \$14.8 million of cash expenditures for Florence Copper.

Net cash used by financing activities for the three months ended December 31, 2021 was \$6.0 million comprised of principal repayments for equipment loans and leases of \$4.9 million, interest paid of \$0.8 million and \$1.5 million in fees relating to the new revolving credit facility closed in October 2021. Net cash provided by financing activities for the three months ended December 31, 2020 was \$15.2 million and included in financing activities is the net proceeds from the equity offering of \$34.3 million.

2021				20	20			
(Cdn\$ in thousands, except per share amounts)	Q4	Q3	Q2	Q1	Q4	Q3	Q2	Q1
Revenues	102,972	132,563	111,002	86,741	87,398	87,780	106,005	62,084
Net income (loss)	11,762	22,485	13,442	(11,217)	5,694	987	18,745	(48,950)
Basic EPS	0.04	0.08	0.05	(0.04)	0.02	-	0.08	(0.20)
Adjusted net income (loss)*	13,312	27,020	9,948	(5,534)	(7,473)	(5,754)	8,335	(21,647)
Adjusted basic EPS*	0.05	0.10	0.04	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.02)	0.03	(0.09)
Adjusted EBITDA*	52,988	76,291	47,732	23,722	20,478	31,545	50,860	5,346
(US\$ per pound, except where i	ndicated)							
Realized copper price*	4.37	4.26	4.48	4.09	3.69	3.15	2.70	2.06
Total operating costs*	1.94	1.57	2.02	2.23	2.82	2.00	1.34	1.82
	17.9	24.3	20.0	16.5	18.8	21.4	29.5	23.3

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

Financial results for the last eight quarters reflect: volatile copper and molybdenum prices and foreign exchange rates that impact realized sale prices; and variability in the quarterly sales volumes due to copper grades and timing of shipments which impacts revenue recognition.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The Company's significant accounting policies are presented in Note 2.4 of the Financial Statements. The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

In the process of applying the Company's accounting policies, significant areas where judgment is required include the determination of a joint arrangement, determining the timing of transfer of control of inventory for revenue recognition, provisions for environmental rehabilitation, reserve and resource estimation, functional currency, determination of the accounting treatment of the advance payment under the silver purchase and sale agreement reported as deferred revenue, determination of business or asset acquisition treatment, and recovery of other deferred tax assets.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Significant areas of estimation include reserve and resource estimation; asset valuations and the measurement of impairment charges or reversals; valuation of inventories; plant and equipment lives; tax provisions; provisions for environmental rehabilitation; valuation of financial instruments and derivatives; capitalized stripping costs and share-based compensation. Key estimates and assumptions made by management with respect to these areas have been disclosed in the notes to these consolidated financial statements as appropriate.

The accuracy of reserve and resource estimates is a function of the quantity and quality of available data and the assumptions made and judgment used in the engineering and geological interpretation and may be subject to revision based on various factors. Changes in reserve and resource estimates may impact the carrying value of property, plant and equipment; the calculation of depreciation expense; the capitalization of stripping costs incurred during production; and the timing of cash flows related to the provision for environmental rehabilitation.

Changes in forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates, production costs and recovery rates may change the economic status of reserves and resources. Forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates, production costs and recovery rates, and discount rates assumptions, either individually or collectively, may impact the carrying value of derivative financial instruments, inventories, property, plant and equipment, and intangibles, as well as the measurement of impairment charges or reversals.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Several new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations, are not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2021, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. None are currently considered by the Company to be significant or likely to have a material impact on future financial statements.

INTERNAL AND DISCLOSURE CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (ICFR) and disclosure controls and procedures (DC&P).

The Company's internal control system over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to management and the Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

- pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;
- (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and
- (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

The Company's internal control system over disclosure controls and procedures is designed to provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to the Company is made known to management and disclosed to others and information required to be disclosed by the Company in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted by us under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the securities legislation.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial reporting and disclosure.

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures during the 2021 financial year that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting and disclosure.

The Company's management, under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. In making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2021, the Company's internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria. The Company's certifying officers have evaluated the effectiveness of the ICFR and DC&P at the financial year end and concluded that ICFR and DC&P are effective as at December 31, 2021 based on the evaluation.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company uses a mixture of cash, long-term debt and shareholders' equity to maintain an efficient capital allocation and ensure adequate liquidity exists to meet the ongoing cash requirements of the business. In the normal course of business, the Company is inherently exposed to financial risks, including market risk, commodity price risk, interest rate risk, currency risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The Company manages these risks in accordance with its risk management policies. To mitigate some of these inherent business risks, the Company uses commodity derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment. These non-hedge derivatives are summarized in Note 7 to the Financial Statements. The financial risks and the Company's exposure to these risks, is provided in various tables in Note 25 of the Financial Statements. For a discussion on the methods used to value financial instruments, as well as significant assumptions, refer also to Notes 2 and 25 of the Financial Statements.

Summary of Financial Instruments	Carrying Amount	Associated Risks
Financial assets		
Amortized cost		
Cash and equivalents	236,767	Interest rate
Accounts receivable	9,604	Credit Market
Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)		
Marketable securities	3,110	Market
Investment in private companies	1,200	Market
Financial liabilities		
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	55,660	Currency
Senior secured notes	497,388	Currency
Lease liabilities	15,692	Interest rate
Lease related obligations	7,457	Interest rate
Secured equipment loans	12,564	Currency Interest rate

Management's Discussion and Analysis

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Key management personnel

Key management personnel include the members of the Board of Directors and executive officers of the Company.

The Company contributes to a post-employment defined contribution pension plan on the behalf of certain key management personnel. This retirement compensation arrangement ("RCA Trust") was established to provide benefits to certain executive officers on or after retirement in recognition of their long service. Upon retirement, the participant is entitled to the distribution of the accumulated value of the contributions under the RCA Trust. Obligations for contributions to the defined contribution pension plan are recognized as compensation expense in the periods during which services are rendered by the executive officers.

Certain executive officers are entitled to termination and change in control benefits. In the event of termination without cause, other than a change in control, these executive officers are entitled to an amount ranging from 9-month to 12-months' salary. In the event of a change in control, if a termination without cause or a resignation occurs within 12 months following the change of control, these executive officers are entitled to receive, among other things, an amount ranging from 12-months' to 24-months' salary and accrued bonus, and all stock options held by these individuals will fully vest.

Executive officers and directors also participate in the Company's share option program (refer to Note 21 of the Financial Statements).

Compensation for key management personnel (including all members of the Board of Directors and executive officers) is as follows:

	Year ended December 31,		
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021	2020	
Salaries and benefits	6,252	6,527	
Post-employment benefits	1,672	1,827	
Share-based compensation expense	5,011	4,963	
	12,935	13,317	

Other related parties

Gibraltar Joint Venture

Under the terms of the joint venture operating agreement, Gibraltar pays the Company a management fee for services rendered by the Company as operator of the Gibraltar mine. In addition, the Company pays certain expenses on behalf of Gibraltar and invoices the Gibraltar for these expenses. In 2021, net management fee income for \$1,227 (2020: \$1,291) and net reimbursable compensation expenses and third party costs of \$343 (2020: \$190) were charged to the joint venture partner.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

NON-GAAP PERFORMANCE MEASURES

This document includes certain non-GAAP performance measures that do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS. These measures may differ from those used by, and may not be comparable to such measures as reported by, other issuers. The Company believes that these measures are commonly used by certain investors, in conjunction with conventional IFRS measures, to enhance their understanding of the Company's performance. These measures have been derived from the Company's financial statements and applied on a consistent basis. The following tables below provide a reconciliation of these non-GAAP measures to the most directly comparable IFRS measure.

Total operating costs and site operating costs, net of by-product credits

Total costs of sales include all costs absorbed into inventory, as well as transportation costs and insurance recoverable. Site operating costs are calculated by removing net changes in inventory, depletion and amortization, insurance recoverable, and transportation costs from cost of sales. Site operating costs, net of by-product credits is calculated by subtracting by-product credits from the site operating costs. Site operating costs, net of by-product credits per pound are calculated by dividing the aggregate of the applicable costs by copper pounds produced. Total operating costs per pound is the sum of site operating costs, net of by-product credits and off-property costs divided by the copper pounds produced. By-product credits are calculated based on actual sales of molybdenum (net of treatment costs) and silver during the period divided by the total pounds of copper produced during the period. These measures are calculated on a consistent basis for the periods presented.

(Cdn\$ in thousands, unless otherwise indicated) – 75% basis	2021 Q4	2021 Q3	2021 Q2	2021 Q1	2021 YE
Cost of sales	57,258	65,893	74,056	72,266	269,473
Less:					
Depletion and amortization	(16,202)	(17,011)	(17,536)	(15,838)	(66,587)
Net change in inventories of finished goods	13,497	762	(4,723)	2,259	11,795
Net change in inventories of ore stockpiles	4,804	6,291	2,259	(8,226)	5,128
Transportation costs	(4,436)	(5,801)	(4,303)	(3,305)	(17,845)
Site operating costs	54,921	50,134	49,753	47,156	201,964
Less by-product credits:					
Molybdenum, net of treatment costs	(7,755)	(8,574)	(6,138)	(5,604)	(28,071)
Silver, excluding amortization of deferred revenue	(330)	300	64	(238)	(204)
Site operating costs, net of by-product credits	46,836	41,860	43,679	41,314	173,689
Total copper produced (thousand pounds)	21,590	25,891	20,082	16,684	84,247
Total costs per pound produced	2.17	1.62	2.18	2.48	2.06
Average exchange rate for the period (CAD/USD)	1.26	1.26	1.23	1.27	1.25
Site operating costs, net of by-product credits					
(US\$ per pound)	1.72	1.28	1.77	1.96	1.64
Site operating costs, net of by-product credits	46,836	41,860	43,679	41,314	173,689
Add off-property costs:					
Treatment and refining costs	1,480	3,643	1,879	2,414	9,416
Transportation costs	4,436	5,801	4,303	3,305	17,845
Total operating costs	52,752	51,304	49,861	47,033	200,950
Total operating costs (C1) (US\$ per pound)	1.94	1.57	2.02	2.23	1.90

Management's Discussion and Analysis

(Cdn\$ in thousands, unless otherwise indicated) – 75% basis	2020 Q4	2020 Q3	2020 Q2	2020 Q1	2020 YE
Cost of sales	79,083	75,969	81,181	83,309	319,542
Less:					
Depletion and amortization	(18,747)	(23,894)	(25,512)	(27,148)	(95,301)
Net change in inventories of finished goods	2,087	1,415	(5,753)	1,302	(949)
Net change in inventories of ore stockpiles	6,632	4,186	(50)	603	11,371
Transportation costs	(3,768)	(4,127)	(5,834)	(4,519)	(18,248)
Site operating costs	65,287	53,549	44,032	53,547	216,425
Less by-product credits:					
Molybdenum, net of treatment costs	(3,649)	(4,109)	(4,252)	(3,231)	(15,241)
Silver, excluding amortization of deferred revenue	133	(54)	(28)	(354)	(303)
Site operating costs, net of by-product credits	61,771	49,386	39,752	49,962	200,871
Total copper produced (thousand pounds)	18,725	21,658	27,576	24,318	92,277
Total costs per pound produced	3.30	2.28	1.44	2.05	2.18
Average exchange rate for the period (CAD/USD)	1.30	1.33	1.39	1.34	1.34
Site operating costs, net of by-product credits					
(US\$ per pound)	2.53	1.71	1.04	1.53	1.62
Site operating costs, net of by-product credits	61,771	49,386	39,752	49,962	200,871
Add off-property costs:					
Treatment and refining costs	3,284	4,254	5,676	4,956	18,170
Transportation costs	3,768	4,127	5,834	4,519	18,248
Total operating costs	68,823	57,767	51,262	59,437	237,289
Total operating costs (C1) (US\$ per pound)	2.82	2.00	1.34	1.82	1.92

Adjusted net income (loss)

Adjusted net income (loss) removes the effect of the following transactions from net income as reported under IFRS:

- Unrealized foreign currency gains/losses;
- Unrealized gain/loss on derivatives; and
- Loss on settlement of long-term debt and call premium, including realized foreign exchange gains.

Management believes these transactions do not reflect the underlying operating performance of our core mining business and are not necessarily indicative of future operating results. Furthermore, unrealized gains/losses on derivative instruments, changes in the fair value of financial instruments, and unrealized foreign currency gains/losses are not necessarily reflective of the underlying operating results for the reporting periods presented.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

(Cdn\$ in thousands, except per share amounts)	2021 Q4	2021 Q3	2021 Q2	2021 Q1	2021 YE
Net income (loss)	11,762	22,485	13,442	(11,217)	36,472
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss	(1,817)	9,511	(3,764)	8,798	12,728
Realized foreign exchange gain on settlement of long- term debt	-	_	-	(13,000)	(13,000)
Loss on settlement of long-term debt	-	-	-	5,798	5,798
Call premium on settlement of long-term debt	-	-	-	6,941	6,941
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivatives	4,612	(6,817)	370	802	(1,033)
Estimated tax effect of adjustments	(1,245)	1,841	(100)	(3,657)	(3,161)
Adjusted net income (loss)	13,312	27,020	9,948	(5,535)	44,745
Adjusted EPS	0.05	0.10	0.04	(0.02)	0.16
(Cdn\$ in thousands, except per share amounts)	2020 Q4	2020 Q3	2020 Q2	2020 Q1	2020 YE
Net income (loss)	5,694	987	18,745	(48,950)	(23,524)
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss	(13,595)	(7,512)	(12,985)	29,747	(4,345)
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivatives	586	1,056	3,528	(3,348)	1,822
Estimated tax effect of adjustments	(158)	(285)	(953)	904	(492)
Adjusted net income (loss)	(7,473)	(5,754)	8,335	(21,647)	(26,539)
Adjusted EPS	(0.03)	(0.02)	0.03	(0.09)	(0.11)

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA is presented as a supplemental measure of the Company's performance and ability to service debt. Adjusted EBITDA is frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of companies in the industry, many of which present Adjusted EBITDA when reporting their results. Issuers of "high yield" securities also present Adjusted EBITDA because investors, analysts and rating agencies consider it useful in measuring the ability of those issuers to meet debt service obligations.

Adjusted EBITDA represents net income before interest, income taxes, and depreciation and also eliminates the impact of a number of items that are not considered indicative of ongoing operating performance. Certain items of expense are added and certain items of income are deducted from net income that are not likely to recur or are not indicative of the Company's underlying operating results for the reporting periods presented or for future operating performance and consist of:

- Unrealized foreign exchange gains/losses;
- Unrealized gain/loss on derivatives;
- Loss on settlement of long term debt (included in finance expenses) and call premium;
- Realized foreign exchange gain on settlement of long-term debt; and
- Amortization of share-based compensation expense.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021 Q4	2021 Q3	2021 Q2	2021 Q1	2021 YE
Net income (loss)	11,762	22,485	13,442	(11,217)	36,472
Add:					
Depletion and amortization	16,202	17,011	17,536	15,838	66,587
Finance expense (includes loss on settlement of long- term debt and call premium)	12,072	11,875	11,649	23,958	59,554
Finance income	(218)	(201)	(184)	(75)	(678)
Income tax (recovery) expense	9,300	22,310	7,033	(4,302)	34,341
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss	(1,817)	9,511	(3,764)	8,798	12,728
Realized foreign exchange gain on settlement of long- term debt	-	-	-	(13,000)	(13,000)
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivatives	4,612	(6,817)	370	802	(1,033)
Amortization of share-based compensation expense	1,075	117	1,650	2,920	5,762
Adjusted EBITDA	52,988	76,291	47,732	23,722	200,733
(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2020 Q4	2020 Q3	2020 Q2	2020 Q1	2020 YE
Net income (loss)	5,694	987	18,745	(48,950)	(23,524)
Add:					
Depletion and amortization	18,747	23,894	25,512	27,148	95,301
Finance expense	10,575	11,203	10,461	10,771	43,010
Finance income	(47)	(4)	(48)	(150)	(249)
Income tax (recovery) expense	(2,724)	(580)	4,326	(10,118)	(9,096)
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss	(13,595)	(7,512)	(12,985)	29,747	(4,345)
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivatives	586	1,056	3,528	(3,348)	1,822
Amortization of share-based compensation expense	1,242	2,501	1,321	246	5,310
Adjusted EBITDA	20,478	31,545	50,860	5,346	108,229

Earnings from mining operations before depletion and amortization

Earnings from mining operations before depletion and amortization is earnings from mining operations with depletion and amortization added back. The Company discloses this measure, which has been derived from our financial statements and applied on a consistent basis, to provide assistance in understanding the results of the Company's operations and financial position and it is meant to provide further information about the financial results to investors.

(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2021 Q4	2021 Q3	2021 Q2	2021 Q1	2021 YE
Earnings from mining operations	45,714	66,670	36,946	14,475	163,805
Add:					
Depletion and amortization	16,202	17,011	17,536	15,838	66,587
Earnings from mining operations before depletion and amortization	61,916	83,681	54,482	30,313	230,392

Management's Discussion and Analysis

(Cdn\$ in thousands)	2020 Q4	2020 Q3	2020 Q2	2020 Q1	2020 YE
Earnings (loss) from mining operations	8,315	11,811	24,824	(21,225)	23,725
Add:					
Depletion and amortization	18,747	23,894	25,512	27,148	95,301
Earnings from mining operations before depletion and amortization	27,062	35,705	50,336	5,923	119,026
Site operating costs per ton milled					
(Cdn\$ in thousands, except per ton milled amounts)	2021 Q4	2021 Q3	2021 Q2	2021 Q1	2021 YE
Site operating costs (included in cost of sales)	54,921	50,134	49,753	47,156	201,964
Tons milled (thousands) (75% basis)	5,523	5,576	5,429	5,402	21,930
Site operating costs per ton milled	\$9.94	\$8.99	\$9.16	\$8.73	\$9.21
(Cdn\$ in thousands, except per ton milled amounts)	2020 Q4	2020 Q3	2020 Q2	2020 Q1	2020 YE
Site operating costs (included in cost of sales)	65,287	53,549	44,032	53,547	216,415
Tons milled (thousands) (75% basis)	5,594	5,595	5,748	5,622	22,559
Site operating costs per ton milled	\$11.67	\$9.57	\$7.66	\$9.52	\$9.59



Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2021

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements, the notes thereto and other financial information contained in the Management's Discussion and Analysis have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and are the responsibility of the management of Taseko Mines Limited. The financial information presented elsewhere in the Management's Discussion and Analysis is consistent with the data that is contained in the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements, where necessary, include amounts which are based on the best estimates and judgment of management.

In order to discharge management's responsibility for the integrity of the financial statements, the Company maintains a system of internal control over financial reporting. These controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the Company's assets are safeguarded, transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with management's authorization, proper records are maintained and relevant and reliable financial information is produced. These controls include maintaining quality standards in hiring and training of employees, establishing policies and procedures, a corporate code of conduct and ensuring that there is proper accountability for performance within appropriate and well-defined areas of responsibility.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing management's performance of its responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control over financial reporting. The Audit Committee, which is composed of non-executive directors, meets with management as well as the external auditors to ensure that management is properly fulfilling its financial reporting responsibilities to the Directors who approve the consolidated financial statements. The external auditors have full and unrestricted access to the Audit Committee to discuss the scope of their audits, the adequacy of the system of internal control over financial reporting issues.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, the Company's independent registered public accounting firm, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

/s/ Stuart McDonald

/s/ Bryce Hamming

Stuart McDonald Chief Executive Officer Bryce Hamming Chief Financial Officer

Vancouver, British Columbia February 22, 2022

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company's management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company's principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by the Company's Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The Company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

- pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;
- provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
 preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
 principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in
 accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and
- provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

The Company's management, under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act as of December 31, 2021. In making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2021, the Company's internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

The effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 has been audited by KPMG LLP, the Company's independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report immediately preceding the Company's audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

/s/ Stuart McDonald

/s/ Bryce Hamming

Stuart McDonald Chief Executive Officer Bryce Hamming Chief Financial Officer

Vancouver, British Columbia February 22, 2022



KPMG LLP Chartered Professional Accountants PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3 Canada

 Telephone
 (604) 691-3000

 Fax
 (604) 691-3031

 Internet
 www.kpmg.ca

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors Taseko Mines Limited:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Taseko Mines Limited (the "Company") as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2021 and the related notes (collectively, the "consolidated financial statements"). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in *Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013)* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 22, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative ("KPMG International"), a Swiss entity. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.



Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Evaluation of capitalized stripping costs incurred during production

As discussed in Note 2.4(f) to the consolidated financial statements, stripping costs incurred during production that generate future economic benefit by increasing the productive capacity, extending the productive life of the mine or allowing access to a mineable reserve, are capitalized as mineral property development costs. As discussed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements, capitalized stripping costs were \$69,228 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2021.

We identified the evaluation of capitalized stripping costs incurred during production as a critical audit matter. The magnitude of costs incurred and the complexity in determining whether the costs were incurred for developing the mineral property, required a high degree of auditor judgement and significant auditor effort.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the critical audit matter, including controls related to the preparation of the mine plan and determination of the strip ratio reflected in the mine plan, determination of the tonnage of materials mined in the year, determination of production costs incurred and determination of the allocation of production costs to capitalized stripping costs or to inventories. We evaluated the professional qualifications, knowledge, skill, and ability of the Company's qualified persons responsible for preparing the mine plan and determining the strip ratio reflected in the mine plan. We compared the Company's historical estimates of projected production information in the mine plan to actual results to assess the accuracy of the Company's forecasting process. We assessed the strip ratios for the current year production costs, examined the underlying documentation and assessed whether the expenditure related to production. We checked the accuracy of the allocation of production costs between capitalized stripping costs and inventories.

KPMG LLP (Signed)

Chartered Professional Accountants

We have served as the Company's auditor since 1999.

Vancouver, Canada February 22, 2022



KPMG LLP Chartered Professional Accountants PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3 Canada

 Telephone
 (604) 691-3000

 Fax
 (604) 691-3031

 Internet
 www.kpmg.ca

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors Taseko Mines Limited:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Taseko Mines Limited's (the "Company") internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in *Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013)* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in *Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013)* issued by the Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively, the "consolidated financial statements"), and our report dated February 22, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

> KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative ("KPMG International"), a Swiss entity. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.



Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

KPMG LLP (Signed)

Chartered Professional Accountants

Vancouver, Canada February 22, 2022

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Cdn\$ in thousands)

	Note	December 31, 2021	December 31, 2020
ASSETS			
Current assets			
Cash and equivalents		236,767	85,110
Accounts receivable	11	9,604	6,689
Inventories	12	79,871	58,841
Other financial assets	13	7,014	3,583
Prepaids	-	3,971	2,975
		337,227	157,198
Property, plant and equipment	14	837,839	742,619
Other financial assets	13	2,902	5,298
Goodwill	15	5,227	5,250
		1,183,195	910,365
LIABILITIES Current liabilities Accounts payable and other liabilities Current portion of long-term debt Current portion of deferred revenue Interest payable on senior secured notes Current income tax payable Long-term debt Provision for environmental rehabilitation ("PER") Deferred and other tax liabilities Deferred revenue Other financial liabilities	16 17 18 17 19 10c 18 21b	55,660 18,305 13,441 13,312 2,759 103,477 513,444 87,571 70,186 45,356 4,643 824,677	51,747 17,617 5,604 1,160 2,356 78,484 345,787 78,983 39,060 47,154 3,525 592,993
EQUITY Share capital Contributed surplus Accumulated other comprehensive income ("AOCI") Deficit	20a	476,599 55,403 6,649 (180,133)	472,870 53,433 7,674 (216,605)
		358,518	317,372
		1,183,195	910,365

Commitments and contingencies

18,23

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(Cdn\$ in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

		For the years Decembe	
	Note	2021	2020
Revenues	4	433,278	343,267
Cost of sales	-	400,210	040,207
Production costs	5	(202,886)	(224,241)
Depletion and amortization	5	(66,587)	(95,301)
Earnings from mining operations		163,805	23,725
5 51		,	,
General and administrative		(16,937)	(14,636)
Share-based compensation expense	21c	(5,507)	(5,075)
Project evaluation recovery (expense)		408	(1,397)
Gain (loss) on derivatives	7	(13,008)	1,937
Other income	8	1,483	1,495
Income before financing costs and income taxes		130,244	6,049
Finance expenses, net	9	(51,935)	(42,761)
Call premium on settlement of debt	9	(6,941)	-
Foreign exchange gain (loss)		(555)	4,092
Income (loss) before income taxes		70,813	(32,620)
Income tax recovery (expense)	10	(34,341)	9,096
Net income (loss)		36,472	(23,524)
Other comprehensive income (loss):			
Items that will remain permanently in other comprehensive inco Gain (loss) on financial assets	ine (1055).	(677)	5,360
Items that may in the future be reclassified to profit (loss):		(077)	5,500
Foreign currency translation reserve		(348)	(4,513)
Total other comprehensive income (loss)		(1,025)	<u>(4,313)</u> 847
		(1,020)	011
Total comprehensive income (loss)		35,447	(22,677)
Earnings (loss) per share			
Basic	22	0.13	(0.09)
Diluted	22	0.13	(0.09)
Diatod -		0.10	(0.00)
Weighted average shares outstanding (thousands)			
Basic	22	283,593	250,529
Diluted	22	287,504	250,529

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Cdn\$ in thousands)

		For the year Decembe	
	Note	2021	2020
Operating activities			
Net income (loss) for the year		36,472	(23,524)
Adjustments for:			(,)
Depletion and amortization		66,587	95,301
Income tax expense (recovery)	10	34,341	(9,096)
Finance expenses, net	9	51,935	42,761
Share-based compensation expense	21c	5,762	5,310
Loss (gain) on derivatives	7	13,008	(1,937)
Unrealized foreign exchange gain		(272)	(4,345)
Amortization of deferred revenue	18	(4,807)	(4,915)
Deferred revenue deposit	18	(1,001)	8,510
Call premium on settlement of debt	9	6,941	
Other operating activities	Ũ	(3,227)	1,457
Net change in working capital	24	(31,971)	(3,327)
Cash provided by operating activities	27	174,769	106,195
Investing activities			
Gibraltar capitalized stripping costs	14	(59,864)	(26,349)
Gibraltar capital expenditures	14	(27,863)	(20,349)
Florence Copper development costs	14	(42,871)	(15,294)
Other project development costs	14	(3,058)	(3,504)
Purchase of copper price options	7	(15,837)	(5,110)
Proceeds from copper put options		-	6,104
Net proceeds from the sale of marketable securities		-	7,270
Other investing activities		1,781	(2,411)
Cash used for investing activities		(147,712)	(59,643)
Financing activities			
Net proceeds from issuance of senior secured notes	17a	496,098	-
Repayment of senior secured notes	17a	(317,225)	-
Redemption cost on settlement of senior secured notes	9	(8,714)	-
Financing fees paid	17b	(1,451)	-
Interest paid		(25,590)	(32,891)
Repayment of equipment loans and leases	17f	(19,737)	(14,362)
Proceeds from equity issuance, net of costs		-	34,299
Proceeds from exercise of stock options		2,406	1,018
Cash provided by (used for) financing activities		125,787	(11,936)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents		(1,187)	(2,704)
Increase in cash and equivalents		151,657	31,912
Cash and equivalents, beginning of year		85,110	53,198
Cash and equivalents, end of year		236,767	85,110

Supplementary cash flow disclosures

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(Cdn\$ in thousands)

	Share capital	Contributed surplus	AOCI	Deficit	Total
Balance at January 1, 2020	436,318	51,622	6,827	(193,081)	301,686
Common shares issued, net of issue costs	34,299	-	- 0,027	-	34,299
Tax effect on share issue costs	802	-	-	-	802
Share-based compensation	-	2,244	-	-	2,244
Exercise of options	1,451	(433)	-	-	1,018
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year	-	-	847	(23,524)	(22,677)
Balance at December 31, 2020	472,870	53,433	7,674	(216,605)	317,372
Balance at January 1, 2021	472,870	53,433	7,674	(216,605)	317,372
Share-based compensation	-	3,293	-	-	3,293
Exercise of options	3,729	(1,323)	-	-	2,406
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year	-	-	(1,025)	36,472	35,447
Balance at December 31, 2021	476,599	55,403	6,649	(180,133)	358,518

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

1. REPORTING ENTITY

Taseko Mines Limited (the "Company" or "Taseko") is a corporation governed by the *British Columbia Business Corporations Act.* The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended December 31, 2021 comprise the Company, its subsidiaries and its 75% interest in the Gibraltar joint venture. The Company is principally engaged in the production and sale of metals, as well as related activities including mine permitting and development, within the province of British Columbia, Canada and the State of Arizona, USA. Seasonality does not have a significant impact on the Company's operations.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. Comparative prior year figures presented in the statement of cash flows under investing activities have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation.

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 22, 2022.

2.2 Basis of measurement, judgment and estimation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except those measured at fair value through profit or loss, fair value through other comprehensive income.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company's functional currency. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at the closing exchange rate as at the balance sheet date. Foreign currency non-monetary assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses are translated into Canadian dollars at the prevailing rate of exchange on the dates of the transactions. Any gains and losses are included in profit and loss. The Company's US subsidiary measures the items in its financial statements using the US dollar as its functional currency. The assets and liabilities of the US subsidiary are translated into Canadian dollars using the period end exchange rate. The income and expenses are translated into Canadian dollars at the weighted average exchange rates to the period end reporting date. Any gains and losses on translation are included in accumulated other comprehensive income ("AOCI"). All financial information presented in Canadian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise noted.

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

In the process of applying the Company's accounting policies, significant areas where judgment is required include the determination of a joint arrangement, determining the timing of transfer of control of inventory for revenue recognition, reserve and resource estimates, functional currency, determination of the accounting treatment of the advance payment under the silver purchase and sale agreement reported as deferred revenue (Note 18), provisions for environmental rehabilitation, determination of business or asset acquisition treatment, and recovery of other deferred tax assets.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

Significant areas of estimation include reserve and resource estimation; asset valuations and the measurement of impairment charges or reversals; valuation of inventories; plant and equipment lives; tax provisions; provisions for environmental rehabilitation, including determination of appropriate discount rates; valuation of financial instruments and derivatives; capitalized stripping costs and share-based compensation. Key estimates and assumptions made by management with respect to these areas have been disclosed in the notes to these consolidated financial statements as appropriate.

The accuracy of reserve and resource estimates is a function of the quantity and quality of available data and the assumptions made and judgment used in the engineering and geological interpretation and may be subject to revision based on various factors. Changes in reserve and resource estimates may impact the carrying value of property, plant and equipment; the calculation of depreciation expense; the capitalization of stripping costs incurred during production; and the timing of cash flows related to the provision for environmental rehabilitation.

Changes in forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates, production costs and recovery rates may change the economic status of reserves and resources. Forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates, production costs and recovery rates, and discount rates assumptions, either individually or collectively, may impact the carrying value of derivative financial instruments, provisions for environmental rehabilitation, inventories, property, plant and equipment, and intangibles, as well as the measurement of impairment charges or reversals.

The Company continues to evaluate the potential impacts of the coronavirus ("COVID-19") on all aspects of its business. The Company also continues to act to ensure the health and safety of our employees, contractors and the communities in which we operate is paramount and in accordance with public safety direction from governments and public health authorities. The duration and magnitude of COVID-19's effects on the economy, movement of goods and services across international borders, the copper market, and on the Company's financial and operational performance remains uncertain at this time.

Should the duration, spread or intensity of the COVID-19 pandemic deteriorate in the future, there could be a potentially material and negative impact on the Company's operating plan, its cash flows, and the valuation of its long-lived assets, potential future decreases in revenue from the sale of its products and the profitability of its ongoing operations. As of the date of these statements, there has not been any direct impact on the Company's operations as a result of COVID-19.

2.3 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and controlled entities as at December 31, 2021. Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) from the date the Company gains control until the date the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Company's accounting policies. All intercompany transactions between the subsidiaries of the Company are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Company applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration transferred by the Company to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Company, which includes the fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Cdn\$ in thousands)

The Company recognizes identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless of whether they have been previously recognized in the acquiree's financial statements prior to the acquisition. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the excess of the sum of a) fair value of consideration transferred, b) the recognized amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and c) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-date fair values of identifiable net assets. If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated above, the excess amount would be recognized in profit or loss immediately.

2.4 Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Revenue recognition.

Under IFRS 15, *Revenue Contracts with Customers*, revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of the goods or services and the Company has satisfied its performance obligations. Determining the timing of the transfer of control, at a point in time or over time, requires judgment. Cash received in advance of meeting these conditions is recorded as advance payments on product sales. In the case of Gibraltar's copper concentrate, control is generally transferred upon shipment of the product as product is placed over the ship's rails or in limited circumstances, upon delivery to the concentrate shed at the shipping port.

Under the terms of the Company's concentrate sales contracts, the final sales amount is based on final assay results and quoted market prices which may be in a period subsequent to the date of sale. Revenues for these sales, net of treatment and refining charges are recorded when the customer obtains control of the concentrate, based on an estimate of metal contained using initial asay results and forward market prices for the expected date that final sales prices will be fixed. The period between provisional pricing and final settlement can be up to four months. This settlement receivable is recorded at fair value each reporting period by reference to forward market prices until the date of final pricing, with the changes in fair value recorded as an adjustment to revenue.

(b) Cash and equivalents

Cash and equivalents consist of cash and highly-liquid investments having terms of three months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash. Cash and equivalents exclude cash subject to restrictions.

(c) Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet when the Company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The classification of financial instruments dictates how these assets and liabilities are measured subsequently in the Company's consolidated financial statements.

A financial asset is classified as measured at fair value and subsequently at either: amortized cost; Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI); or Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVPL). The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if: (i) it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and (ii) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding; and (iii) it is not designated as FVPL. This category of financial assets is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, and reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or loss.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Cdn\$ in thousands)

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. Equity investments measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognized as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset as FVPL if doing so significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. Financial assets classified as FVPL are subsequently measured at fair value, with net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, recognized in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortized cost

Financial assets at amortized cost are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial assets are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial. Accounts receivable are assessed for evidence of impairment at each reporting date, with any impairment recognized in earnings for the period. Financial assets in this category include cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivables.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Marketable securities, investment in subscription receipts and reclamation deposits are designated as FVOCI and recorded at fair value. Dividends are recognized as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). Derivative financial instruments that are not designated and effective as hedging instruments are classified as FVPL. Financial instruments classified as FVPL are stated at fair value with any changes in fair value recognized in earnings for the period. Financial assets in this category include derivative financial instruments that the Company acquires to manage exposure to commodity price fluctuations. These instruments are non-hedge derivative instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The Company has accounted for accounts payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt under this method.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy establishes three levels to classify the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value, by reference to the reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values.

Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and

Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

(d) Exploration and evaluation

Exploration and evaluation expenditures relate to the initial search for a mineral deposit and the subsequent evaluation to determine the economic potential of the mineral deposit. The exploration and evaluation stage commences when the Company obtains the legal right or license to begin exploration. Exploration and evaluation expenditures are recognized in earnings in the period in which they are incurred.

Capitalization of development costs as mineral property, plant and equipment commences once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral reserve and resources associated with the Company's evaluation properties are established and management has made a decision to proceed with development.

(e) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis and includes direct labour and materials; non-capitalized stripping costs; depreciation and amortization; freight; and overhead costs. Net realizable value is determined with reference to relevant market prices, less applicable variable selling costs and estimated remaining costs of completion to bring the inventories into saleable form.

Ore stockpiles represent stockpiled ore that have not yet completed the production process, and are not yet in a saleable form. Finished goods inventories represent metals in saleable form that have not yet been sold. Materials and supplies inventories represent consumables used in the production process, as well as spare parts and other maintenance supplies that are not classified as capital items.

The quantity of recoverable metal in stockpiled ore and in the processing circuits is an estimate which is based on the tons of ore added and removed, expected grade and recovery. The quantity of recoverable metal in concentrate is an estimate using initial assay results.

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Land, buildings, plant and equipment

Land, buildings, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, including all expenditures incurred to prepare an asset for its intended use.

Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred, except when these repairs significantly extend the life of an asset or result in an operating improvement. In these instances, the portion of these repairs relating to the betterment is capitalized as part of plant and equipment.

Depreciation is based on the cost of the asset less residual value. Where an item of plant and equipment is comprised of major components with different useful lives, the components are accounted for as separate items and depreciated separately. Depreciation commences when an asset is available for use. Estimates of remaining useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually. Changes in estimates are accounted for prospectively.

The depreciation rates of the major asset categories are as follows:

Land Buildings Plant and equipment Mining equipment Light vehicles and other mobile equipment Furniture, computer and office equipment Not depreciated Straight-line basis over 10-25 years Units-of-production basis Straight-line basis over 5-20 years Straight-line basis over 2-5 years Straight-line basis over 2-3 years

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

Mineral properties

Mineral properties consist of the cost of acquiring, permitting and developing mineral properties. Once in production, mineral properties are amortized on a units-of-production basis over the component of the ore body to which the capitalized costs relate.

Property acquisition costs arise either as an individual asset purchase or as part of a business combination, and may represent a combination of either proven and probable reserves, resources, or future exploration potential. When management has not made a determination that technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable, the entire amount is considered property acquisition costs and not amortized. When such property moves into development, the property acquisition cost asset is transferred to mineral properties within property, plant and equipment.

Mineral property development costs include: stripping costs incurred in order to provide initial access to the ore body; stripping costs incurred during production that generate a future economic benefit by increasing the productive capacity, extending the productive life of the mine or allowing access to a mineable reserve; capitalized project development costs; and capitalized interest.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress includes the purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for its intended use. Construction in progress includes advances on long-lead items. Construction in progress is not depreciated. Once the asset is complete and available for use, the costs of construction are transferred to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment, and depreciation commences.

Capitalized interest

Interest is capitalized for qualifying assets. Qualifying assets are assets that require a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use. Capitalization ceases when the asset is substantially complete or if construction is interrupted for an extended period. Where the funds used to finance a project form part of general borrowings, the amount capitalized is calculated using a weighted average of rates applicable to relevant general borrowings of the Company during the period.

Leased assets

The Company has adopted *IFRS 16, Leases* effective January 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective method. The Company assesses whether a contract is a lease or contains a lease, at the inception of a contract. The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset ("ROU asset") and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, at the commencement of the lease, with the exception of short-term and low value leases, which are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The ROU asset is initially measured based on the present value of lease payments, lease payments made at or before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The ROU asset is depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the underlying asset and is subject to testing for impairment if there is an indicator of impairment.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments include fixed payments less any lease incentives, and any variable lease payments where variability depends on an index or rate. When the lease contains an extension or purchase option that the Company considers reasonably certain to be exercised, the cost of the option is included in the lease payments.

ROU assets are included in property, plant, and equipment, (Note 14) and the lease liability is included in debt in the consolidated balance sheet (Note 17).

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Company's non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever circumstances suggest that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any. These assessments require the use of estimates and assumptions such as long-term commodity prices, discount rates, future capital requirements, exploration potential and operating performance.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit (CGU) is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm's-length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets or CGU's. If the recoverable amount of an asset or its related CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in earnings for the period.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but not to an amount that exceeds the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in earnings.

The carrying amount of the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested annually for impairment or when there is an indication that the goodwill may be impaired. Any goodwill impairment is recognized as an expense in the profit or loss. Should there be a recovery in the value of a CGU, any impairment of goodwill previously recorded is not subsequently reversed.

(g) Income taxes

Income tax on the earnings for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in earnings except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. Income tax is calculated using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date applicable to the period of expected realization or settlement.

Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards to previous years.

Deferred tax is determined using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities acquired (not in a business combination) that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit on acquisition; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures to the extent that they are not

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

probable to reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities. A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

(h) Share-based compensation

The fair-value method is used for the Company's share-based payment transactions. Under this method, the cost of share options and equity-settled performance share units is recorded based on their estimated fair value at the grant date, including an estimate of the forfeiture rate. The fair value of the share options and performance share units is expensed on a graded amortization basis over the vesting period of the awards, with a corresponding increase in equity.

Share-based compensation expense relating to cash-settled awards, including deferred share units, is recognized based on the quoted market value of the Company's common shares on the date of grant. The related liability is re-measured to fair value each reporting period to reflect changes in the market value of the Company's common shares, with changes in fair value recorded in net profit (loss).

(i) Provisions

Environmental rehabilitation

The Company records the present value of estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations required to retire an asset in the period in which the obligation occurs. Environmental rehabilitation activities include facility decommissioning and dismantling; removal and treatment of waste materials, including water treatment; site and land rehabilitation, including compliance with and monitoring of environmental regulations; and related costs required to perform this work and/or operate equipment designed to reduce or eliminate environmental effects. The provision for environmental rehabilitation ("PER") is adjusted each period for new disturbances, and changes in regulatory requirements, the estimated amount of future cash flows required to discharge the liability, the timing of such cash flows and the pre-tax discount rate specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized in earnings as a finance cost.

When a PER is initially recognized, the corresponding cost is capitalized increasing the carrying amount of the related asset, and is amortized to earnings on a unit-of-production basis. Costs are only capitalized to the extent that the amount meets the definition of an asset and represents future economic benefits to the operation.

Significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining the provision for environmental rehabilitation as there are a number of factors that will affect the ultimate liability. These factors include estimation of the extent and cost of rehabilitation activities; timing of future cash flows, changes in discount rates; inflation rate; and regulatory requirements.

Other provisions

Other provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) that has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the effect is material, the provision is discounted using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the obligation. The accretion expense is included in finance expense.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

(j) Finance income and expenses

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, gains on the disposal of marketable securities, and changes in the fair value of derivatives included in cash and equivalents and marketable securities. Interest income is recognized as it accrues in earnings, using the effective interest method. Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, the finance component on deferred revenue, losses on the disposal of marketable securities, changes in the fair value of derivatives included in cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities, and impairment losses recognized on financial assets. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognized in earnings using the effective interest method.

(k) Earnings (loss) per share

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share data for its common shares, calculated by dividing the earnings (loss) attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the earnings attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares, which comprise warrants and share options granted. There is no dilution impact when the Company incurs a loss.

(I) Interests in joint arrangements

IFRS defines a joint arrangement as one over which two or more parties have joint control, which is the contractually agreed sharing of control over an arrangement. This exists only when the decisions about the relevant activities (being those that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement) require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

A joint operation is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. In relation to its interests in joint operations, the Company recognizes its:

- Assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
- Liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;
- Revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation; and
- Expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

2.5 New accounting standards and interpretations

Several new accounting standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations have been published by the IASB. None of these standards or amendments to existing standards have been adopted early by the Company. Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted for the first period beginning on or after the effective date of the new standard.

New standards, amendments and pronouncements that became effective for the period covered by these statements have not been disclosed as they did not have a material impact on the Company's audited consolidated financial statements.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

3. INTEREST IN GIBRALTAR JOINT VENTURE

On March 31, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement with Cariboo Copper Corp. (Cariboo) whereby the Company contributed certain assets and liabilities of the Gibraltar mine, operating in British Columbia, into an unincorporated joint venture to acquire a 75% interest in the joint venture. Cariboo contributed \$186,800 to purchase the remaining 25% interest.

The assets and liabilities contributed by the Company to the joint venture were mineral property interests, plant and equipment, inventories, prepaid expenses, reclamation deposits, capital lease obligations, and site closure and reclamation obligations. Certain key strategic, operating, investing and financing policies of the joint venture require unanimous approval such that neither venturer is in a position to exercise unilateral control over the joint venture. The Company continues to be the operator of the Gibraltar mine.

The Company has joint control over the joint arrangement and as such consolidates its 75% portion of all the joint venture's assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

The following is a summary of the Gibraltar joint venture financial information on a 100% basis.

	As at December 3		
	2021	2020	
Cash and equivalents	43,387	46,440	
Other current assets	119,833	88,814	
Current assets	163,220	135,254	
Non-current assets	959,828	927,211	
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	43,409	53,662	
Other current financial liabilities	31,500	23,703	
Current liabilities	74,909	77,365	
Long-term debt	21,343	40,178	
Provision for environmental rehabilitation	108,916	97,432	
Non-current liabilities	130,259	137,610	

	Years ended December 31		
	2021	2020	
Revenues	578,736	458,305	
Production costs	(271,364)	(298,988)	
Depletion and amortization	(102,209)	(139,643)	
Other operating expense	(4,349)	(4,529)	
Interest expense	(4,379)	(5,689)	
Interest income	40	82	
Foreign exchange gain (loss)	(1,042)	348	
Comprehensive income for joint arrangement	195,433	9,886	

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

4. REVENUE

	Years ended December 31		
	2021	2020	
Copper contained in concentrate	401,514	331,584	
Copper price adjustments on settlement	8,098	9,394	
Molybdenum concentrate	28,862	18,842	
Molybdenum price adjustments on settlement	2,580	460	
Silver (Note 18)	5,010	5,218	
Total gross revenue	446,064	365,498	
Less: Treatment and refining costs	(12,786)	(22,231)	
Revenue	433,278	343,267	

5. COST OF SALES

Years ended December 31,		
2021	2020	
201,964	216,415	
17,845	18,248	
(11,795)	939	
(5,128)	(11,361)	
202,886	224,241	
66,587	95,301	
269,473	319,542	
	2021 201,964 17,845 (11,795) (5,128) 202,886 66,587	

Site operating costs include personnel costs, non-capitalized waste stripping costs, repair and maintenance costs, consumables, operating supplies and external services.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, site operating costs and general administrative expenses include \$6,013 and \$364, respectively, for benefits related to claims submitted by the Company for the Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy. No claims were submitted for 2021.

6. COMPENSATION EXPENSE

	Years ended December 31,		
	2021	2020	
Wages, salaries and benefits	82,345	71,481	
Post-employment benefits	1,765	1,986	
Share-based compensation expense (Note 21c)	5,761	5,310	
	89,871	78,777	

Compensation expense is presented as a component of cost of sales and general and administrative expense, and project development costs.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

7. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company purchased copper put option contracts for 41 million pounds of copper with maturity dates ranging from July 2021 through to December 2021, at a strike price of US\$3.75, at a total cost of \$11,143. In May 2021, the Company purchased copper collar contracts for a total of 43 million pounds of copper with maturity dates ranging from January 2022 to June 2022, with a minimum copper strike price of US\$4.00 per pound and a ceiling price of US\$5.60 per pound, at a total cost of \$4,693.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company purchased copper put option contracts for 59.5 million pounds of copper with maturity dates ranging from January 2020 through to December 2020, at strike prices between US\$2.30 and US\$2.60 per pound, at a total cost of \$1,742. In addition, during the quarter ended December 31, 2020, the Company purchased copper put option contracts for 37.5 million pounds of copper with maturity dates from January 2021 to June 2021 at strike prices between \$2.80 and \$3.20 per pound, at a total cost of \$3,368.

The Company purchased fuel call options during 2020 for diesel with maturity dates ranging from April 2020 to March 2021, at a total cost of \$916. During the year ended December, 31, 2021, the Company received proceeds of \$717 on diesel fuel call options that settled during the year. There were no fuel call options outstanding at December 31, 2021.

	Years ended December 31,		
	2021	2020	
Net realized (gain) loss on settled copper puts	14,511	(4,361)	
Net unrealized (gain) loss on outstanding copper options	(1,064)	1,853	
Realized (gain) loss on fuel call options	(470)	602	
Unrealized (gain) loss on fuel call options	31	(31)	
	13,008	(1,937)	

Details of the outstanding copper price option contracts at December 31, 2021 are summarized in the following table:

	Quantity	Strike price	Period	Cost	Fair value
Copper collar contracts	42.7 million lbs	US\$4.00/per lb US\$5.60/per lb	H1 2022	4,693	3,904

In January and February of 2022, the Company purchased copper collar contracts for a total of 42 million pounds of copper with maturity dates ranging from July 2022 to December 2022, with a minimum copper strike price of US\$4.00 per pound and a ceiling price of US\$5.40 per pound.

8. OTHER INCOME

	Years ended De	Years ended December 31,		
	2021	2020		
Management fee income	1,180	1,198		
Other operating income, net	303	297		
	1,483	1,495		

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

9. FINANCE EXPENSES

	Years ended December 31,		
	2021	2020	
Interest expense	38,853	34,650	
Amortization of financing fees	2,040	2,638	
Finance expense – deferred revenue (Note 18)	5,549	5,172	
Accretion on PER (Note 19)	373	550	
Finance income	(678)	(249)	
Loss on settlement of long-term debt (Note 17a)	5,798	-	
	51,935	42,761	

For the year ended December 31, 2021, interest expense includes \$1,728 (2020 - \$2,012) from lease liabilities and lease related obligations.

As part of the senior secured notes refinancing completed in February, the Company redeemed its US\$250 million senior secured notes on March 3, 2021, which resulted in an accounting loss of \$5,798, comprised of the write-off of deferred financing costs of \$4,025 and additional interest costs paid over the call period of \$1,773.

The Company also also paid a one-time redemption call premium of \$6,941 on the settlement of the 2022 Notes, which is not included in net financing expenses shown above.

10. INCOME TAX

(a) Income tax expense (recovery)

	Years ended December 31,		
	2021	2020	
Current income tax:			
Current expense	3,203	1,769	
Deferred income tax:			
Origination and reversal of temporary differences	31,129	(10,648)	
Deferred tax adjustments related to prior periods	9	(217)	
Deferred income tax expense (recovery)	31,138	(10,865)	
Income tax expense (recovery)	34,341	(9,096)	

(b) Effective tax rate reconciliation

	Years ended December 31,		
	2021	2020	
Income tax at Canadian statutory rate of 36.5% (2020: 36.5%)	25,840	(11,922)	
Permanent differences	13,110	4,189	
Foreign tax rate differential	96	(3)	
Unrecognized tax benefits	(4,714)	(1,143)	
Deferred tax adjustments related to prior periods	9	(217)	
Income tax expense (recovery)	34,341	(9,096)	

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

(c) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

	As at December 31,		
	2021	2020	
Property, plant and equipment	(190,768)	(154,587)	
Other financial assets	6,156	5,714	
Provisions	22,746	20,422	
Tax loss carry forwards	91,680	89,391	
Deferred tax liability	(70,186)	(39,060)	

(d) Unrecognized deferred tax assets and liabilities

	As at December 31	
	2021	2020
Deductible temporary differences:		
Debt	56,921	58,643
Losses and tax pools	30,523	30,523
Other financial assets	13,879	12,304
Deferred tax asset:		
Debt	7,655	7,873
Losses and tax pools	8,241	8,241
Other financial assets	1,873	1,672

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can utilize the benefits. There are no unrecognized deferred tax liabilities.

Losses and tax pools of \$30,523 (2020: \$30,523) relate to non-capital losses in Canada which expire between 2027 and 2039.

11. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

	As at December 31,	
	2021	2020
Trade and settlement receivables	5,859	4,676
Goods and services tax receivable	1,099	1,358
Other receivables	2,646	655
	9,604	6,689

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

12. INVENTORIES

	As at December 31,		
	2021	2020	
Ore stockpiles	31,845	21,946	
Copper contained in concentrate	19,831	7,948	
Molybdenum concentrate	310		
Materials and supplies	27,885	28,549	
	79,871	58,841	

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded a recovery of \$4,561 (2020: loss of \$5,353) to adjust the carrying value of ore stockpiles to cost, of which \$1,510 (2020: \$2,216) is recorded in depletion and amortization and the balance in production costs.

13. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

	As at December 31,	
	2021	2020
Current:		
Marketable securities	3,110	1,791
Copper price options (Note 7)	3,904	1,514
Fuel call options (Note 7)	-	278
	7,014	3,583
Long-term:		
Investment in private companies	1,200	1,200
Reclamation deposits	434	2,825
Restricted cash	1,268	1,273
	2,902	5,298

The Company holds strategic investments in publicly-traded and privately owned mineral exploration and development companies, including marketable securities and subscription receipts. Marketable securities and the investment in privately owned companies are accounted for at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

In December, 2021, the Company arranged for the issuance of a letter of credit for US\$1,500 to replace the cash collateral with a surety bond provider, as security for outstanding surety bonds issued to the federal and state regulators for the Florence Copper project.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company received net proceeds of \$7,270 from the sale of marketable securitites of a publicly traded company and the resulting gain is recognized in other comprehensive income.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

	Property				
Cost	acquisition costs	Mineral properties	Plant and equipment	Construction in progress	Total
At January 1, 2020	111,644	387,404	748,295	in progress	1,247,343
Additions	111,044	44,454	22,351	- 12,660	79,465
	-	,	22,351	12,000	
Changes in rehabilitation cost asset	-	12,906	-	-	12,906
Disposals	-	-	(7,023)	-	(7,023)
Foreign exchange translation	(1,749)	(693)	(1,029)	-	(3,471)
Transfers between categories	-	-	7,334	(7,334)	-
At December 31, 2020	109,895	444,071	769,928	5,326	1,329,220
Additions	-	82,343	46,921	35,358	164,622
Changes in rehabilitation cost asset	-	12,087	-	-	12,087
Disposals	-	-	(13,283)	-	(13,283)
Foreign exchange translation	(369)	(186)	(255)	-	(810)
Transfers between categories	-	-	17,944	(17,944)	-
At December 31, 2021	109,526	538,315	821,255	22,740	1,491,836
Accumulated depreciation					
At January 1, 2020	-	231,114	258,223	-	489,337
Depletion and amortization	-	59,540	43,929	-	103,469
Disposals	-	-	(6,205)	-	(6,205)
At December 31, 2020	-	290,654	295,947	-	586,601
Depletion and amortization	-	34,979	44,144	-	79,123
Disposals	-	-	(11,727)	-	(11,727)
At December 31, 2021	-	325,633	328,364	-	653,977
Net book value					
At December 31, 2020	109,895	153,417	473,981	5,326	742,619
At December 31, 2021	109,526	212,682	492,891	22,740	837,839

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Cdn\$ in thousands)

	As at December 31,		
	2021	2020	
Net book value beginning of period	742,619	758,006	
Additions:			
Gibraltar capitalized stripping costs	69,228	30,918	
Gibraltar capital expenditures	29,251	23,057	
Florence Copper development costs	58,667	18,059	
Yellowhead development costs	2,603	2,409	
Aley development costs	455	1,095	
Other items:			
Right of use assets	4,418	3,927	
Rehabilitation costs asset	12,087	12,906	
Disposals	(1,556)	(818)	
Foreign exchange translation	(810)	(3,471)	
Depletion and amortization	(79,123)	(103,469)	
Net book value at December 31	837,839	742,619	

Net book value	Gibraltar Mines (75%)	Florence Copper	Yellowhead	Aley	Other	Total
At December 31, 2020	504,995	203,079	18,649	13,861	2,035	742,619
Net additions Changes in rehabilitation cost asset (Note 19)	101,281 12,087	58,679	2,603	455 -	48	163,066 12,087
Depletion and amortization	(78,722)	(14)	-	-	(387)	(79,123)
Foreign exchange translation	-	(810)	-	-	-	(810)
At December 31, 2021	539,641	260,934	21,252	14,316	1,696	837,839

During the year, the Company capitalized development costs of \$58,667 (2020: \$18,059) for the Florence Copper project. Since its acquisition of Florence Copper in November 2014, the Company has incurred and capitalized a total of \$163.8 million in project development and other costs.

Non-cash additions to property, plant and equipment of Gibraltar include \$9,364 (2020: \$4,569) of depreciation on mining assets related to capitalized stripping.

Since January 1, 2020 development costs for Yellowhead of \$5,012 have been capitalized as mineral property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation related to the right of use assets for the year ended December 31, 2021 was \$3,941 (2020: \$4,270).

15. GOODWILL

Goodwill was recorded on the Company's acquisition of Curis Resources Ltd. ("Curis") in 2014 which at the time indirectly owned 100% of the Florence Copper Project. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the carrying value of the goodwill decreased by \$23 as a result of foreign currency translation.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Cdn\$ in thousands)

The Company performed an annual goodwill impairment test and the recoverable amount of the Curis CGU was calculated to be higher than its carrying amount and no impairment loss was recognized.

16. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

	As at D	As at December 31,		
	2021	2020		
Trade payables	30,100	32,775		
Accrued liabilities	25,560	18,972		
	55,660	51,747		

17. DEBT

	As at December 3	
	2021	2020
Current:		
Lease liabilities (c)	9,625	8,094
Secured equipment loans (d)	6,539	7,536
Lease related obligations (e)	2,141	1,987
	18,305	17,617
Long-term:		
Senior secured notes (a)	497,388	313,965
Other financing fees (b)	(1,352)	-
Lease liabilities (c)	6,067	11,829
Secured equipment loans (d)	6,025	12,536
Lease related obligations (e)	5,316	7,457
	513,444	345,787
Total debt	531,749	363,404

(a) Senior secured notes

On February 10, 2021, the Company completed an offering of US\$400 million aggregate principal amount of senior secured notes (the "2026 Notes"). The 2026 Notes mature on February 15, 2026 and bear interest at an annual rate of 7.0%, payable semi-annually on February 15 and August 15. A portion of the proceeds were used to redeem the outstanding US\$250 million 8.75% Senior Secured Notes (the "2022 Notes") due on June 15, 2022. The remaining proceeds, net of transaction costs, call premium and accrued interest, of approximately \$167 million (US\$131 million) are available for capital expenditures, including at its Florence Copper project and Gibraltar mine, working capital and for general corporate purposes.

The 2026 Notes are secured by liens on the shares of Taseko's wholly-owned subsidiary, Gibraltar Mines Ltd., and the subsidiary's rights under the joint venture agreement relating to the Gibraltar mine, as well as the shares of Curis Holdings (Canada) Ltd. and Florence Holdings Inc. The 2026 Notes are guaranteed by each of Taseko's existing and future restricted subsidiaries. The 2026 Notes also allow for up to US\$145 million of first lien secured debt to be issued and up to US\$50 million of debt for equipment financing, all subject to the terms of the note

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

indenture. The Company is also subject to certain restrictions on asset sales, issuance of preferred stock, dividends and other restricted payments. However, there are no maintenance covenants with respect to the Company's financial performance.

The Company may redeem some or all of the 2026 Notes at any time on or after February 15, 2023, at redemption prices ranging from 103.5% to 100%, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. Prior to February 15, 2023, all or part of the notes may be redeemed at 100%, plus a make-whole premium, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. Until February 15, 2023, the Company may redeem up to 10% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes, at a redemption price of 103%, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. In addition, until February 15, 2023, the Company may redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes, in an amount not greater than the net proceeds of certain equity offerings, at a redemption price of 107%, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. On a change of control, the 2026 Notes are redeemable at the option of the holder at a price of 101%.

The settlement of the 2022 Notes resulted in finance expenses as further described in Note 9.

(b) Revolving Credit Facility

On October 6, 2021, the Company closed a secured US\$50 million revolving credit facility (the "Facility"). The Facility is secured by first liens against Taseko's rights under the Gibraltar joint venture, as well as, the shares of Gibraltar Mines Ltd., Curis Holdings (Canada) Ltd., and Florence Holdings Inc. The Facility matures on April 3, 2025 and is extendable annually thereafter. The Facility will be available for capital expenditures, working capital and general corporate purposes. Amounts outstanding under the facility bear interest at LIBOR plus an applicable margin and have a standby fee of 1.125%.

The Facility has customary covenants for a revolving credit facility. Financial covenants include a requirement for the Company to maintain a leverage ratio, an interest coverage ratio, a minimum tangible net worth and a minimum liquidity amount as defined under the Facility. The Company was in compliance with these covenants as at December 31, 2021.

(c) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities include the Company's outstanding lease liabilities under IFRS 16. At December 31, 2021, the net carrying amount of leased assets was \$28,823 (2020: \$32,449). The lease liabilities have monthly repayment terms ranging between 12 and 84 months and with interest rates between 1.2% and 11.9%.

(d) Secured equipment loans

The equipment loans are secured by some of the existing mobile mining equipment at the Gibraltar mine and commenced between June, 2018 and August of 2019 with monthly repayment terms ranging between 48 and 60 months and with interest rates ranging between 5.2% to 6.4%.

(e) Lease related obligations

Lease related obligations relate to a lease arising under a sale leaseback transaction on certain items of equipment at the Gibraltar mine. The lease commenced in June 2019 and has a term of 54 months. At the end of the lease term, the Company has an option to renew the term, an option to purchase the equipment at fair market value or option to return the equipment. The lease contains a fixed price early buy-out option exercisable at the end of 48 months.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

(f) Debt continuity

The following schedule shows the continuity of total debt for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

	As at December 31,	
	2021	2020
Total debt as at January 1	363,404	373,485
Settlement of 2022 Notes	(317,225)	-
Foreign exchange gain	(1,075)	-
Write-off of deferred financing charges	4,025	-
Issuance of 2026 Notes	507,560	-
Deferred financing charges	(12,913)	-
Lease additions	6,042	8,131
Lease liabilities and equipment loans repayments	(19,737)	(14,362)
Unrealized foreign exchange gain	(488)	(6,541)
Amortization of deferred financing charges	2,156	2,691
Total debt as at December 31	531,749	363,404

18. DEFERRED REVENUE

	As at December 31,	
	2021	2020
Current:		
Customer advance payments (a)	5,297	-
Osisko – silver stream agreement (b)	8,144	5,604
Current portion of deferred revenue	13,441	5,604
Long-term portion of deferred revenue (b)	45,356	47,154
Total deferred revenue	58,797	52,758

(a) Customer advance payments

At December 31, 2021, the Company had received advance payments on 1.3 million pounds (100% basis) of copper concentrate finished goods inventory.

(b) Silver stream purchase and sale agreement

On March 3, 2017, the Company entered into a silver stream purchase and sale agreement with Osisko Gold Royalties Ltd. ("Osisko"), whereby the Company received an upfront cash deposit payment of US\$33 million for the sale of an equivalent amount of its 75% share of Gibraltar payable silver production until 5.9 million ounces of silver have been delivered to Osisko. After that threshold has been met, 35% of an equivalent amount of Taseko's share of all future payable silver production from Gibraltar will be delivered to Osisko. The Company receives cash payments of US\$2.75 per ounce for all silver deliveries made under the agreement.

On April 24, 2020, Taseko entered into an amendment to its silver stream with Osisko and received \$8,510 in exchange for reducing the delivery price of silver from US\$2.75 per ounce to nil. The amendment is accounted for as a contract modification under IFRS 15 *Revenue from Contracts with Customers*. The funds received are available for general working capital purposes.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Cdn\$ in thousands)

The silver sale agreement has a minimum term of 50 years and automatically renews for successive 10-year periods as long as Gibraltar mining operations are active. If the initial deposit is not fully reduced through silver deliveries at current market prices at time of the deliveries, a cash payment for the remaining amount will be due to Osisko at the expiry date of the agreement. The Company's obligations under the agreement are secured by a pledge of Taseko's 75% interest in the Gibraltar joint venture.

The Company recorded the deposits from Osisko as deferred revenue and recognizes amounts in revenue as silver is delivered. The amortization of deferred revenue is calculated on a per unit basis using the estimated total number of silver ounces expected to be delivered to Osisko over the life of the Gibraltar mine. The current portion of deferred revenue is an estimate based on deliveries anticipated over the next twelve months.

The following table summarizes changes in the Osisko deferred revenue:

Balance at January 1, 2020	43,991
Additional deposit on silver stream amendment	8,510
Finance expense (Note 9)	5,172
Amortization of deferred revenue	(4,915)
Balance at December 31, 2020	52,758
Finance expense (Note 9)	5,549
Amortization of deferred revenue	(4,807)
Balance at December 31, 2021	53,500

19. PROVISION FOR ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION

	2021	2020
Beginning balance at January 1	78,983	66,373
Change in estimates	12,087	12,906
Accretion	373	550
Settlements	(3,846)	(728)
Foreign exchange differences	(26)	(118)
Ending balance at December 31	87,571	78,983

The PER represents the present value of estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations required to retire an asset, including decommissioning and other site restoration activities. The majority of these expenditures occur after the end of the life of the related operation. For the Gibraltar mine, it is anticipated that these costs will be incurred over a period of at least 100 years beyond the end of the current mine life based on known reserves. The change in the PER during 2021 is primarily due to changes in the risk-free discount rates applied in determining the obligation.

As at December 31, 2021, the PER was calculated on a present value basis for closure costs to be incurred in the first 30 years using a nominal risk-free discount rate of 1.79% (2020 – 1.63%) based on the 30 year overnight index swap (OIS) rate. For discounting annual closure cashflows beyond 30 years, a risk free yield curve was extrapolated from the implied OIS swap rate for liquid, investment grade corporate bonds with durations between 50 to 100 years. A nominal risk free rate of up to 2.61% was utilized in 2021 (2020 – 2.86%) for discounting closure costs up to 100 years from the estimated date of site closure for Gibraltar based on current reserves. A long-term inflation rate range between 1.82% to 1.50% (2020 – 1.49%) over tenors between 30 to 100 years was applied to derive nominal cash flow estimates.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Cdn\$ in thousands)

PER estimates are reviewed regularly and there have been adjustments to the amount and timing of cash flows as a result of updated information. Assumptions are based on the current economic environment, but actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary decommissioning work required, which will reflect market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, the timing of rehabilitation will depend on when the mine ceases production which, in turn, will depend on future mineral reserves, metal prices, operating conditions and many other factors which are inherently uncertain.

As at December 31, 2021, the Company has provided letters of credit and surety bonds to the regulatory authorities for its share of reclamation obligations totalling \$37.5 million for Gibraltar and \$12.4 million for Florence. On January 31, 2022, the Company provided additional surety of \$21.9 million for its 75% share of Gibraltar reclamation security. Security for reclamation obligations is returned once the site is reclaimed to a satisfactory level and there are no ongoing monitoring and maintenance requirements.

20. EQUITY

(a) Share capital

	Common shares (thousands)
Common shares outstanding at January 1, 2020	246,194
Common shares issued	34,322
Exercise of share options	1,599
Common shares outstanding at December 31, 2020	282,115
Exercise of share options	2,777
Common shares outstanding at December 31, 2021	284,892

The Company's authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares with no par value.

In November 2020, the Company completed a common share offering for a total of 34,322,138 common shares of the Company at the price of US\$0.83 per offered share for net proceeds of \$34,299.

(b) Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus represents employee entitlements to equity settled share-based awards that have been charged to the statement of comprehensive income and loss in the periods during which the entitlements were accrued and have not yet been exercised.

(c) Accumulated other comprehensive income ("AOCI")

AOCI is comprised of the cumulative net change in the fair value of FVOCI financial assets and cumulative translation adjustments arising from the translation of foreign subsidiaries.

21. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

(a) Share Options

The Company has an equity settled share option plan approved by the shareholders that allows it to grant options to directors, officers, employees and other service providers. Under the plan, a maximum of 9.5% of the Company's

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Cdn\$ in thousands)

outstanding common shares may be granted. The maximum allowable number of outstanding options to independent directors as a group at any time is 1% of the Company's outstanding common shares. The exercise price of an option is set at the time of grant using the five-day volume weighted average price of the common shares. Options are exercisable for a maximum of five years from the effective date of grant under the plan. Vesting conditions of options are at the discretion of the Board of Directors at the time the options are granted.

	Options	
	(thousands)	Average price
Outstanding at January 1, 2020	10,756	1.12
Granted	1,835	0.85
Exercised	(1,599)	0.53
Cancelled/forfeited	(74)	1.31
Expired	(1,949)	1.02
Outstanding at January 1, 2021	8,969	1.19
Granted	2,402	1.60
Exercised	(2,777)	0.93
Expired	(324)	2.86
Outstanding at December 31, 2021	8,270	1.33
Exercisable at December 31, 2021	6,098	1.31

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company granted 2,402,000 (2020 - 1,835,000) share options to directors, executives and employees, exercisable at an average exercise price of \$1.60 per common share (2020 -\$0.85 per common share) over a five year period. The total fair value of options granted was \$2,114 (2020 -\$844) based on a weighted average grant-date fair value of \$0.88 (2020 -\$0.46) per option.

Range of exercise price	Options (thousands)	Average life (years)
\$0.38 to \$0.75	1,727	2.41
\$0.76 to \$1.00	2,248	2.00
\$1.01 to \$1.42	811	2.25
\$1.43 to \$1.86	2,215	4.09
\$1.87 to \$2.86	1,269	1.04
	8,270	2.15

The fair value of options was measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes formula. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility. The inputs used in the Black-Scholes formula are as follows:

	At December 31,	
	2021	2020
Expected term (years)	5.0	5.0
Forfeiture rate	0%	0%
Volatility	67%	65%
Dividend yield	0%	0%
Risk-free interest rate	0.4%	1.1%
Weighted-average fair value per option	\$0.88	\$0.46

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Cdn\$ in thousands)

(b) Deferred Share Units and Performance Share Units

The Company has adopted a Deferred Share Unit ("DSU") Plan (the "DSU Plan") that provides for an annual grant of DSUs to each non-employee director of the Company, or an equivalent cash payment in lieu thereof, which participants have agreed would in the first instance be used to assist in complying with the Company's share ownership guidelines. DSUs vest immediately upon grant and are paid out in cash when a participant ceases to be a director of the Company. A long-term financial liability of \$4,643 has been recorded at December 31, 2021 (2020 - \$3,525), representing the fair value of the liability, which is based on the Company's stock price at the reporting period date.

The Company has established a Performance Share Unit ("PSU") Plan (the "PSU Plan") whereby PSUs are issued to executives as long-term incentive compensation. PSUs issued under the Plan entitle the holder to a cash or equity payment (as determined by the Board of Directors), at the end of a three-year performance period equal to the number of PSU's granted, adjusted for a performance factor and multiplied by the quoted market value of a Taseko common share on the completion of the performance period. The performance factor can range from 0% to 250% and is determined by comparing the Company's total shareholder return to those achieved by a peer group of companies.

	DSUs (thousands)	PSUs (thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2020	2,354	1,675
Granted	572	1,375
Settled	(803)	(400)
Outstanding at January 1, 2021	2,123	2,650
Granted	198	530
Settled	(535)	(400)
Outstanding at December 31, 2021	1,786	2,780

During the year ended December 31, 2021, 198,000 DSUs were issued to directors (2020 - 572,000) and 530,000 PSUs to senior executives (2020 - 1,375,000). The fair value of DSUs and PSUs granted was \$1,235 (2020 - \$1,856), with a weighted average fair value at the grant date of \$1.58 per unit for the DSUs (2020 - \$0.72 per unit) and \$1.74 per unit for the PSUs (2020 - \$1.05 per unit).

(c) Share-based compensation expenses

Share based compensation expense is comprised as follows:

Years ended December 31,	
2021	2020
2,142	1,013
1,151	1,231
2,469	3,066
5,762	5,310
	2021 2,142 1,151 2,469

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

22. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Earnings (loss) per share, calculated on a basic and diluted basis, is as follows:

	Year ended December 31,	
	2021	2020
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders – basic and diluted	36,472	(23,524)
(in thousands of common shares)		
Weighted-average number of common shares	283,593	250,529
Effect of dilutive securities:		
Stock options	3,911	-
Weighted-average number of diluted common shares	287,504	250,529
Income (loss) per common share		
Basic earnings per share	0.13	(0.09)
Diluted earnings per share	0.13	(0.09)

23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Commitments

The Company is a party to certain contracts relating to service and supply agreements. Future minimum payments under these agreements as at December 31, 2021 are presented in the following table:

4,146
3,291
3,291
3,291
823
-
14,842

As at December 31, 2021, the Company had outstanding capital commitments of \$38,415 (2020: \$2,733).

(b) Contingencies

The Company has guaranteed 100% of certain capital lease and equipment loans entered into by the Gibraltar joint venture in which it holds a 75% interest. As a result, the Company has guaranteed the joint venture partner's 25% share of this debt which amounted to \$10,079 as at December 31, 2021.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

24. SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION

	For the year ended December 3 ³	
	2021	2020
Change in non-cash working capital items		
Accounts receivable	(2,915)	7,409
Inventories	(16,713)	(11,292)
Prepaids	(1,921)	(1,584)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ¹	(12,984)	2,967
Advance payment on product sales	5,297	-
Interest payable	65	(7)
Income tax payable	(2,800)	(820)
	(31,971)	(3,327)
Non-cash investing and financing activities		
Assets acquired under capital lease	1,644	4,267
Right-of-use assets	4,398	3,864

¹Excludes accounts payable and accrued liability changes on capital expenditures.

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Overview

In the normal course of business, the Company is inherently exposed to market, liquidity and credit risk through its use of financial instruments. The timeframe and manner in which the Company manages these risks varies based upon management's assessment of the risk and available alternatives for mitigating risk. The Board approves and monitors risk management processes, including treasury policies, counterparty limits, controlling and reporting structures.

(b) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market prices comprise three types of risk: commodity price risk; interest rate risk; and currency risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include: cash and equivalents; accounts receivable; marketable securities; subscription receipts; reclamation deposits; accounts payable and accrued liabilities; debt and derivatives.

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return. The Company buys copper put options in order to reduce commodity price risk. The derivative instruments employed by the Company are considered to be economic hedges but are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes.

Commodity price risk

The Company is exposed to the risk of fluctuations in prevailing market commodity prices on the metals it produces. The Company enters into copper put option contracts to reduce the risk of short-term copper price volatility. The amount and duration of the hedge position is based on an assessment of business-specific risk elements combined with the copper pricing outlook. Copper put option contracts are typically extended adding incremental quarters at established put strike prices to provide the necessary price protection.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Cdn\$ in thousands)

Provisional pricing mechanisms embedded within the Company's sales arrangements have the character of a commodity derivative and are carried at fair value as part of accounts receivable. The table below summarizes the impact on revenue and receivables for changes in commodity prices on the provisionally invoiced sales volumes.

	As at December 31,	
	2021	2020
Copper increase/decrease by US\$0.10/lb.1	1,143	2,588

¹The analysis is based on the assumption that the year-end copper price increases/decreases US\$0.10/lb. with all other variables held constant. At December 31, 2021, 12 million (2020: 20 million) pounds of copper in concentrate were exposed to copper price movements. The closing exchange rate at December 31, 2021 of CAD/USD 1.27 (2020: 1.27) was used in the analysis.

The sensitivities in the above tables have been determined with foreign currency exchange rates held constant. The relationship between commodity prices and foreign currencies is complex and movements in foreign exchange can impact commodity prices. The sensitivities should therefore be used with care.

Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its outstanding debt and investments, including cash and cash equivalents, from the possibility that changes in market interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of fixed-rate interest-bearing financial instruments.

The table below summarizes the impact on earnings after tax and equity for a change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. This assumes that the change in interest rates is effective from the beginning of the financial year and balances are constant over the year. However, interest rates and balances of the Company may not remain constant in the coming financial year and therefore such sensitivity analysis should be used with care.

	Years ended December 31	
	2021	2020
Fair value sensitivity for fixed-rate instruments		
Senior secured notes	(2,371)	(1,696)
Lease liabilities	(157)	(61)
Lease related obligations	(65)	(83)
Secured equipment loans	(117)	(142)
	(2,710)	(1,982)
Cash flow sensitivity for variable-rate instruments		
Cash and equivalents	1,602	617

Currency risk

The Canadian dollar is the functional currency of the Company and, as a result, currency exposure arises from transactions and balances in currencies other than the Canadian dollar, primarily the US dollar. The Company's potential currency exposures comprise translational exposure in respect of non-functional currency monetary items, and transactional exposure in respect of non-functional currency.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 10% strengthening in the CAD against the USD. With all other variables held constant, the Company's shareholders equity and earnings after tax would both increase/(decrease) due to changes in the carrying value of monetary assets and liabilities. A weakening in the CAD against the USD would have had the equal but opposite effect to the amounts shown below.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Cdn\$ in thousands)

	Years ended December 31,	
	2021	2020
Cash and equivalents	(13,656)	(6,213)
Accounts receivable	(847)	(412)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	1,522	563
Senior secured notes	37,992	23,321
Equipment loans	266	414
Lease liabilities	20	40

The Company's financial asset and liability profile may not remain constant and, therefore, these sensitivities should be used with care.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. The Company manages liquidity risk by holding sufficient cash and equivalents and scheduling long-term obligations based on estimated cash inflows. There were no defaults on loans payable during the year.

(d) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of potential loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its receivables, marketable securities and investments, and derivatives. In general, the Company manages its credit exposure by transacting only with reputable counterparties. The Company monitors the financial condition of its customers and counterparties to contracts. The Company deals with a limited number of counterparties for its metal sales. The Company had two significant customers in 2021 that represented 82% of gross copper concentrate revenues (2020: two customers accounted for 88% of gross copper concentrate revenues). The trade receivable balance at December 31, 2021 is comprised of three customers (2020: three customers). There are no impairments recognized on the trade receivables.

(e) Fair values of financial instruments

The fair values of the senior secured notes is \$527,958 and the carrying value is \$497,388 at December 31, 2021. The fair value of all other financial assets and liabilities approximates their carrying value.

The Company uses the fair value hierarchy described in Note 2.4(c) for determining the fair value of instruments that are measured at fair value.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Cdn\$ in thousands)

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
December 31, 2021				
Financial assets designated as FVPL				
Derivative asset copper put and call options	-	3,904	-	3,904
	-	3,904	-	3,904
Financial assets designated as FVOCI				
Marketable securities	3,110	-	-	3,110
Investment in private companies	-	-	1,200	1,200
Reclamation deposits	434	-	-	434
	3,544	-	1,200	4,744
December 31, 2020				
Financial assets designated as FVPL				
Derivative asset copper put options	-	1,514	-	1,514
Derivative asset fuel call options	-	- 278 -	278	
	-	1,792	-	1,792
Financial assets designated as FVOCI				
Marketable securities	1,791	-	-	1,791
Investment in private companies	-	-	1,200	1,200
Reclamation deposits	2,825	-	-	2,825
	4,616	-	1,200	5,816

There have been no transfers between fair value levels during the reporting period. The carrying value of cash and equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair value as at December 31, 2021.

The fair value of the senior secured notes, a Level 1 instrument, is determined based upon publicly available information.

The Company's metal concentrate sales contracts are subject to provisional pricing with the selling price adjusted at the end of the quotational period. At each reporting date, the Company's settlement receivable on these contracts are marked-to-market based on a quoted forward price for which there exists an active commodity market. At December 31, 2021, the Company had settlement receivables of \$4,885 (2020 - \$4,676).

The investment in private companies, a Level 3 instrument, are valued based on a management estimate. As this is an investment in a private exploration and development company, there are no observable market data inputs. At December 31, 2021 the determination of the estimated fair value of the investment includes comparison to the market capitalization of comparable public companies.

(f) Capital management

The Company's primary objective when managing capital is to ensure that the Company is able to continue its operations and that it has sufficient ability to satisfy its capital obligations and ongoing operational expenses, as well as to have sufficient liquidity available to fund suitable business opportunities as they arise.

The Company considers the components of shareholders' equity, as well as its cash and equivalents, credit facilities and debt as capital. The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

structure, the Company may issue or buy back equity, issue, buy back or repay debt, sell assets, or return capital to shareholders.

	As at December 31,	
	2021	2020
Cash	(236,767)	(85,110)
Current portion of long-term debt	18,305	17,617
Long-term debt	513,444	345,787
Net debt	294,982	278,294
Shareholders' equity	358,518	317,372

In order to facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares annual operating budgets that are approved by the Board of Directors. Management also actively monitors the covenants on its long-term debt to ensure compliance. The Company's investment policy is to invest cash in highly liquid interest-bearing investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash. There were no changes to the Company's approach to capital management during the year ended December 31, 2021.

26. RELATED PARTIES

(a) Principal Subsidiaries

		Ownership interest as at December 31,	
	2021	2020	
Gibraltar Mines Ltd.	100%	100%	
Curis Holdings (Canada) Ltd.	100%	100%	
Florence Holdings Inc.	100%	100%	
Florence Copper Inc.	100%	100%	
Aley Corporation	100%	100%	
Yellowhead Mining Inc.	100%	100%	

(b) Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel include the members of the Board of Directors and executive officers of the Company.

The Company contributes to a post-employment defined contribution pension plan on behalf of certain key management personnel. This retirement compensation arrangement ("RCA" Trust) was established to provide benefits to certain executive officers on or after retirement in recognition of their long service. Upon retirement, the participant is entitled to the distribution of the accumulated value of the contributions under the RCA Trust. Obligations for contributions to the defined contribution pension plan are recognized as compensation expense in profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by the executive officers.

Certain executive officers are entitled to termination and change in control benefits. In the event of termination without cause, other than a change in control, these executive officers are entitled to an amount ranging from 9-month to 12-months' salary. In the event of a change in control, if a termination without cause or a resignation occurs within 12 months following the change of control, these executive officers are entitled to receive, among other things, an amount ranging from 12-month to 24-months' salary and accrued bonus, and all stock options held by these individuals will fully vest.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Cdn\$ in thousands)

Executive officers and directors also participate in the Company's share option program (Note 21).

Compensation for key management personnel (includes all members of the Board of Directors and executive officers) is as follows:

	Year ended December 31,	
	2021	2020
Salaries and benefits	6,252	6,527
Post-employment benefits	1,672	1,827
Share-based compensation expense	5,011	4,963
	12,935	13,317

(c) Related party transactions

Under the terms of the joint venture operating agreement, the Gibraltar joint venture pays the Company a management fee for services rendered by the Company as operator of Gibraltar. Net management fee income in 2021 was \$1,227 (2020: \$1,291). In addition, the Company pays certain expenses on behalf of the Gibraltar joint venture and invoices the joint venture for these expenses. In 2021, net reimbursable compensation expenses and third party costs of \$343 (2020: \$190) were charged to the joint venture.